From Department of Clinical Neuroscience Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

DEVELOPMENT OF NOVEL AND ACCESSIBLE TREATMENTS FOR TRICHOTILLOMANIA AND SKIN-PICKING DISORDER

Mia Asplund



Stockholm 2024

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher. Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by Universitetsservice US-AB, 2024 © Mia Asplund, 2024 ISBN 978-91-8017-287-5 Cover illustration: Al generative art, Canva Development of novel and accessible treatments for Trichotillomania and Skin-picking disorder Thesis for Doctoral Degree (Ph.D.)

By

Mia Asplund

The thesis will be defended in public at Erna Möllersalen, Karolinska Institutet Neo, Blickagången 16, 141 52 Huddinge, on March 15th, 2024, 09:00.

Principal Supervisor:

Associate professor Volen Ivanov Karolinska Institutet Department of Clinical Neuroscience Center for Psychiatry Research

Co-supervisor(s):

Professor Christian Rück Karolinska Institutet Department of Clinical Neuroscience Center for Psychiatry Research

Dr. Fabian Lenhard Karolinska Institutet Department of Clinical Neuroscience Center for Psychiatry Research

Opponent:

Professor Michael Twohig Utah State University Department of Psychology

Examination Board:

Professor Ida Flink Karlstad University Department of Social and Psychological Sciences

Associate professor Monica Buhrman Uppsala University Department of Psychology Division of Clinical Psychology

Associate professor Victoria Blom The Swedish School of Sports and Health Department of Physical Activity and Health

To Maja and Ellen,

Beloved daughters, the motivation to spend as much time with you as possible supported me in approaching my PhD studies with the dedication of a regular job. Titles and accomplishments fade next to the profound honor of being your mother.

Popular science summary of the thesis

Trichotillomania (TTM) and Skin-picking Disorder (SPD) are psychiatric conditions affecting many, marked by recurring and excessive hair-pulling and skin-picking. These behaviors lead to significant hair loss, skin lesions, and often consume substantial amounts of time, causing significant distress and functional impairment.

The primary treatment for TTM and SPD is behavior therapy (BT). However, accessing such treatments is often limited, especially for those in remote areas where healthcare practitioners might lack sufficient knowledge. To bridge this gap, this thesis explored innovative solutions. We investigated the potential of group therapy, allowing caregivers to help more people simultaneously. Taking it a step further, we developed therapist-supported internet-delivered behavior therapy (iBT). While iBT has been extensively studied for related disorders, its evaluation specifically for TTM and SPD was a novel undertaking.

Study I was a clinical trial conducted in routine psychiatric care, where we developed group behavior therapy treating groups of TTM and SPD participants together. The goal was to assess the feasibility and efficacy of the treatment. In total, 40 adult participants with TTM and/or SPD received the treatment, which included 10 group sessions. The treatment was found feasible, with high group attendance and few participants ending treatment prematurely. Additionally, it was found to be preliminarily effective in reducing symptoms of hair-pulling and skin-picking. The utilization of a group format allowed therapists to efficiently treat 25% more patients in comparison to an individual treatment format.

In **Study II**, also conducted in routine psychiatric care, we developed iBT and conducted an open pilot study with 25 adult participants with TTM and/or SPD to test the feasibility and preliminary efficacy of the treatment. The treatment comprised 10 modules delivered over 10 weeks, including text to read and exercises to perform. Each participant had their own therapist, providing feedback on assignments and who was available to answer questions. iBT was found feasible, with high levels of participant satisfaction and credibility of the treatment. The average module completion was high, and only a small number of participants discontinued treatment prematurely. iBT resulted in significant reductions in hair-pulling and skin-picking symptoms.

In **Study III**, we explored participants' experiences of undergoing iBT in a qualitative study. Ten participants who had undergone iBT in Study II were randomly selected for interviews about their perceptions of challenges and advantages with the treatment. Interviews revealed that participants perceived iBT as beneficial and efficacious, albeit time-consuming, leading to stress in some. The treatment's flexibility was appreciated by some participants, while others expressed a need for increased support, including phone calls or face-to-face sessions.

Study IV was a clinical trial conducted in an academic setting, where 70 participants with SPD were randomly assigned to either iBT or a waitlist of equal duration. The results demonstrated significantly greater improvement in skinpicking symptoms in participants receiving iBT compared to those in the waitlist group. The improvement compared to symptoms before the start of treatment was sustained at the 6-month follow-up.

In conclusion, both group therapy and iBT proved to be preliminarily effective, feasible, and safe treatment approaches for TTM and SPD. iBT, while advantageous, presented challenges for participants. Tailoring the treatment to individual needs or blending iBT with face-to-face treatment could enhance efficacy and applicability.

Future research includes evaluations of these treatments in larger studies with active control conditions. Additionally, analyses comparing these novel approaches to traditional face-to-face therapy in terms of cost savings are essential to make good use of healthcare resources. Furthermore, in order to enable nationwide access to BT for individuals with TTM and SPD, evaluations of the implementation of these approaches in regular healthcare is needed.

Abstract

Background: Trichotillomania (TTM) and Skin-picking disorder (SPD) are psychiatric conditions characterized by recurrent and excessive hair-pulling and skin-picking, respectively. These behaviors result in significant hair loss or skin lesions and often consume substantial amounts of time, leading to significant distress and functional impairment. Prevalence rates vary across studies but have been demonstrated to be as high as 3.5% for TTM and 5% for SPD.

The recommended first-line treatment for TTM and SPD is behavior therapy (BT). Unfortunately, healthcare practitioners often lack sufficient knowledge about these disorders, limiting the availability of treatments, particularly for individuals in geographically distant areas. Group therapy offers a potential solution, allowing caregivers to treat more people in the same timeframe. Further enhancement of availability can be achieved through online delivery. While therapist-supported internet-delivered behavior therapy (iBT) has been extensively studied for related disorders, treatments specifically for TTM and SPD have only been explored through unguided or minimally supported online interventions, yielding modest effect-sizes.

Objective: The thesis aimed to develop and evaluate formats for delivering BT to increase availability and accessibility for these disorders. Specifically, we aimed to:

1) test the feasibility and preliminary efficacy of ACT-enhanced group behavior therapy (AEGBT) for TTM and SPD in an open pilot study,

2) test the feasibility and preliminary efficacy iBT for TTM and SPD in an open pilot study,

3) explore the participants experiences of iBT for TTM and SPD in a qualitative study, and

4) test the feasibility and efficacy of iBT for adult patients with SPD compared to a wait-list condition in a randomized trial.

Methods: In **Study I**, based on the original protocol for individual face-to-face therapy we developed AEGBT and conducted an open pilot study with 40 adult participants with TTM and/or SPD in mixed diagnosis groups to test the feasibility and preliminary efficacy of the treatment. In **Study II**, we developed iBT and conducted an open pilot study with 25 adult participants with TTM and/or SPD to test the feasibility and preliminary efficacy of the treatment. Both Study I and II were conducted in routine psychiatric care. In **Study III**, we explored the participants' experiences of undergoing iBT in a qualitative study. In **Study IV**, conducted in an academic setting, we randomized 70 participants with SPD to either iBT or a waitlist of equal duration.

Results: Study I demonstrated high group attendance and minimal treatment drop-out. AEGBT produced significant decreases in hair-pulling and skin-picking severity from pre- to post-treatment, with moderate to large within-group effects from d = 0.77 to 1.24. Symptom reduction was sustained for SPD participants, but not for those with TTM at the 12-month follow-up. The utilization of a group format allowed therapists to efficiently manage 25% more patients in comparison to an individual treatment format. Study II reported high levels of participant satisfaction and iBT credibility, reflected in high average module completion and few participants ending treatment prematurely. iBT resulted in significant decreases in hair-pulling and skin-picking severity with effect sizes ranging from d = 0.89 to 1.75. Similar to Study I, long-term efficacy favored SPD participants. Study III, identified five over-arching themes, unveiling that participants perceived iBT as beneficial and efficacious, albeit time-consuming, leading to stress in some. The treatment's flexibility was appreciated by some participants, while others expressed a need for increased support. Study IV demonstrated a significantly greater improvement in SPD symptoms in the iBT group compared to the control group at post-treatment, with a between-group effect-size in the large range (bootstrapped d = 1.3). The improvement compared to pre-treatment remained significant at the 6-month follow-up.

Conclusions: In conclusion, both AEGBT and iBT proved to be effective, feasible, and safe treatment approaches for TTM and SPD in routine psychiatric care. iBT, while advantageous, presented challenges for participants. Tailoring the treatment to individual needs or blending iBT with face-to-face treatment could enhance efficacy and applicability. Additionally, iBT demonstrated preliminary efficacy and sustained long-term benefits for SPD compared to a passive control condition. Directions for future research includes evaluating AEGBT and iBT in studies with larger sample sizes and active control conditions alongside cost-effectiveness analyses comparing face-to-face behavior therapy versus these novel treatment approaches. Furthermore, in order to enable nationwide access to BT for individuals with TTM and SPD, evaluations of the implementation of these approaches in regular healthcare is needed.

List of scientific papers

- I. **Asplund, M.,** Rück, C., Lenhard, F., Gunnarsson, T., Bellander, M., Delby, H., & Ivanov, V. Z. (2021). ACT–enhanced group behavior therapy for trichotillomania and skin–picking disorder: A feasibility study. *J Clin Psychol*. doi:10.1002/jclp.23147
- II. Asplund, M., Lenhard, F., Andersson, E., & Ivanov, V. Z. (2022). Internet-delivered acceptance-based behavior therapy for trichotillomania and skin-picking disorder in a psychiatric setting: A feasibility trial. *Internet interventions: the application of information technology in mental and behavioural health, 30*, 100573–100573. doi:10.1016/j.invent.2022.100573
- III. Asplund, M., Lenhard, F., Rück, C., Forsberg, L., & Ivanov, V. Z. (2024) Experiences of internet-delivered acceptance-enhanced behavior therapy for trichotillomania and skin-picking disorder in a psychiatric setting: a qualitative study. Unpublished manuscript.
- IV. Asplund, M., Lenhard, F., Rück, C., Andersson, Erik., Grimlund, T., Nilsson, M., Sarachu Nilsson, M., Sundh, L., & Ivanov, V. Z. (2024) Internet-delivered acceptance-enhanced behavior therapy for skin-picking disorder: A randomized controlled trial. Unpublished manuscript.

Contents

| 1 | Introduction | | | | |
|---|--------------|--|---|----|--|
| 2 | Background | | | | |
| | 2.1 | Characteristics of trichotillomania and skin-picking disorder | | 2 | |
| | | 2.1.1 | Definition and description | 2 | |
| | | 2.1.2 | Diagnostic criteria | 4 | |
| | | 2.1.3 | Comorbidity | 5 | |
| | 2.2 | Epidemiology | | 6 | |
| | | 2.2.1 | Prevalence | 6 | |
| | | 2.2.2 | Course | 7 | |
| | 2.3 | Etiology and maintenance | | | |
| | | 2.3.1 | Etiology | 8 | |
| | | 2.3.2 | Genetic contribution | 8 | |
| | | 2.3.3 | Environmental risk factors | 9 | |
| | | 2.3.4 | Neurobiological underpinnings of hair-pulling and skin- | | |
| | | | picking | 9 | |
| | | 2.3.5 | Psychological models | 11 | |
| | 2.4 | Impact | | | |
| | 2.5 | Assessment of trichotillomania and skin-picking disorder | | 14 | |
| | | 2.5.1 | Instruments measuring trichotillomania | 15 | |
| | | 2.5.2 | Instruments measuring skin-picking disorder | 16 | |
| | | 2.5.3 | Treatment response | 18 | |
| | 2.6 | Treatment for trichotillomania and skin-picking disorder | | 20 | |
| | | 2.6.1 | Behavior therapy | 21 | |
| | | 2.6.2 | Delivering behavior therapy in different treatment | | |
| | | | formats | | |
| | 2.7 | Conclusions | | | |
| 3 | Aim | s | | 27 | |
| | 3.1 | Study I: ACT-enhanced group behavior therapy for | | | |
| | | trichotillomania and skin-picking disorder: A feasibility study | | | |
| | 3.2 | 3.2 Study II: Internet-delivered acceptance-enhanced behavior therapy for TTM and SPD: A pilot trial | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | 3.3 | Study III: Experiences of internet-delivered acceptance- | | | |
| | | enhanced behavior therapy for TTM and SPD: A qualitative | | | |
| | | study | | | |

| | 3.4 | Study IV: Internet-delivered acceptance-enhanced behavior | | | |
|---|---|--|----|--|--|
| | | therapy for skin-picking disorder: A randomized controlled trial | 28 | | |
| 4 | The empirical studies | | | | |
| | 4.1 STUDY I | | 29 | | |
| | | 4.1.1 Methods | 29 | | |
| | | 4.1.2 Main results | 29 | | |
| | 4.2 | Study II | 30 | | |
| | | 4.2.1 Methods | 30 | | |
| | | 4.2.2 Main results | 30 | | |
| | 4.3 | Study III | 31 | | |
| | | 4.3.1 Methods | 31 | | |
| | | 4.3.2 Main results | 31 | | |
| | 4.4 | Study IV | 31 | | |
| | | 4.4.1 Methods | 31 | | |
| | | 4.4.2 Main results | 32 | | |
| | 4.5 | Ethical considerations | 32 | | |
| | | 4.5.1 Ethical approvals | 35 | | |
| 5 | Discussion | | | | |
| | 5.1 Is ACT-enhanced group behavior therapy a feasible treatmen | | | | |
| | | for adults with trichotillomania and skin-picking disorder when | | | |
| | conducted in a psychiatric setting? | | | | |
| | 5.2 | Is internet-delivered acceptance-enhanced behavior therapy a | | | |
| | | feasible and preliminary effective treatment for adults with | | | |
| | trichotillomania and skin-picking disorder when conducte psychiatric setting? | | | | |
| | | | 38 | | |
| | 5.3 What are the participants experiences of internet-delive | | | | |
| | | acceptance-enhanced behavior therapy for trichotillomania | | | |
| | | and skin-picking disorder? | 40 | | |
| | 5.4 Is internet-delivered acceptance-enhanced behavior th disorder an effective treatment for adults with skin-pick | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | disorder? | 42 | | |
| | 5.5 | Future directions | | | |
| 6 | Con | onclusions4 | | | |
| 7 | Ack | Acknowledgements | | | |
| 8 | Refe | References | | | |

List of abbreviations

| ACT | Acceptance and commitment therapy |
|--------------|---|
| AEBT | Acceptance-enhanced behavior therapy |
| AEGBT | Acceptance-enhanced group behavior therapy |
| CGI-I | The clinical global impression - improvement scale |
| CGI-S | The clinical global impression - severity scale |
| BDD | Body dysmorphic disorder |
| BFRB | Body-focused repetitive behavior |
| BT | Behavior therapy |
| CBT | Cognitive behavior theapy |
| DBT | Dialectical behavior therapy |
| HRT | Habit reversal training |
| iBT | Internet-delivered behavior therapy |
| iCBT | Internet-delivered cognitive behavior therapy |
| MGH-HPS | The Massachusetts General Hospital hair-pulling scale |
| MIDAS | The Milwaukee inventory for the dimensions of adult skin-picking |
| MIST-A | The Milwaukee inventory for styles of trichotillomania – adult report |
| NE-Y-BOCS | The Yale-Brown obsessive compulsive scale modified for neurotic excoriation |
| NIHM-TSS/TIS | The National Institute of Mental Health trichotillomania severity scale and trichotillomania impairment scale |
| OCD | Obsessive compulsive disorder |
| OCDRD | Obsessive-compulsive disorder and related disorders |
| RCT | Randomized controlled trial |

- SAM2 TAI
 The SAM2 trichotillomania assessment instrument

 SPIS
 Skin-picking impact scale
- SPD Skin-picking disorder
- SPS-R Skin-picking severity scale revised
- TTM Trichotillomania

1 Introduction

After dedicating the majority of my nearly 20 years as a clinical psychologist to working with individuals suffering from OCD and related disorders (OCDRD), I have a deep understanding of the suffering these individuals experience. Research on OCD is now extensive, and it is satisfying to be able to offer my OCD patients effective and evidence-based care. However, when I began working at a specialized unit for OCDRD almost 15 years ago, I soon realized that research on trichotillomania (TTM) and skin-picking disorder (SPD) was still in its infancy. The consensus in the existing research indicated that a specific form of behavioral therapy was the first-line treatment for these conditions. Still, treatment effectiveness, both short- and long-term, left much to be desired.

What troubled me even more was that so few people suffering from TTM or SPD had access to adequate treatment. The reasons seemed to revolve around the fact that many in society were unaware of these conditions, and knowledge within the healthcare system about how to treat these conditions was severely limited. I found it incredibly frustrating to see a large group of patients, who experienced significant suffering and impairment, without access to care.

Out of this frustration, my doctoral project took its first steps. Ten years have passed since I initially embarked on this project with the aim of increasing knowledge about these conditions and improving access to care for affected individuals. Since then, I have had the honor of developing both group and internet-based treatments for TTM and SPD. The group treatment has been implemented in several clinics in metropolitan areas in Sweden, and within a couple of years, I hope that patients across the country will be able to access internet-based treatment through regional healthcare services. Knowledge within the healthcare system about these conditions has increased to some extent, and the media has brought at least a little more attention to these disorders.

I am proud of these significant advancements, but I am not satisfied. More research is highly warranted and knowledge dissemination must continue. Ultimately, in my view, it's about achieving equitable healthcare – all psychiatric conditions must have a rightful place in both healthcare and academia.

Stockholm, January 2024

2 Background

2.1 Characteristics of trichotillomania and skin-picking disorder

2.1.1 Definition and description

Trichotillomania (TTM) and skin-picking disorder (SPD) are psychiatric conditions characterized by recurrent and excessive behaviors involving hairpulling and skin-picking, respectively, resulting in hair loss or skin lesions (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Individuals affected by TTM and SPD often dedicate significant amounts of time to these behaviors, spending several hours each day pulling or picking (Arnold et al., 1998; Odlaug & Grant, 2008a; Tucker et al., 2011; Woods, Flessner, et al., 2006). Furthermore, individuals with these disorders frequently try to hide the resulting hair loss or skin lesions (Arnold et al., 1998; Diefenbach et al., 2005). Despite numerous attempts, individuals often struggle to cease or limit these behaviors (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

For those with TTM, the most common sites for pulling are the scalp (> 70%), eyebrows, eyelashes, and pubic area (> 50%) (Woods, Flessner, et al., 2006). On the other hand, SPD sufferers most frequently pick from the face (> 70%), followed by the scalp, arms, legs and chest (40 to 50%) (Tucker et al., 2011). Additionally, both hair-pullers and skin-pickers often engage in these behaviors across multiple body sites (Tucker et al., 2011; Woods, Flessner, et al., 2006). Notably, among women with TTM, the number of pulling sites appears to increase from approximately one site during childhood to three sites in early adulthood, stabilizing at two to three sites throughout adulthood (Flessner et al., 2009). The behavior of pulling hair or picking skin on others is observed in a minority of individuals within both TTM and SPD (Wilhelm et al., 1999; Woods, Flessner, et al., 2006). However, this behavior may be more prevalent among individuals with SPD (Odlaug & Grant, 2008b).

Both individuals with TTM and SPD often target hairs or skin irregularities that differ from the rest (e.g., coarse, curly or gray hairs; hairs perceived shorter than the rest or 'just doesn't feel right') or skin (imperfections such as pimples, enlarged pores or scabs etc.) (Arnold et al., 1998; Bottesi et al., 2016; Duke et al., 2009; Tucker et al., 2011). Sensory perceptions arising at the hair growth site may serve as triggers for the urge to engage in pulling. These sensations encompass tingling, burning, warmth, itching, irritation, pressure, or generalized discomfort. Notably, these sensations may originate as a consequence of previous pulling episodes and simultaneously act as precursors for subsequent urges, underscoring the cyclical pattern characterizing pulling episodes (Mansueto et al., 1997). Typically, fingers or fingernails are used for pulling or picking, but individuals with SPD, frequently utilize sharp objects such as tweezers and pins to facilitate the picking (Tucker et al., 2011; Woods, Flessner, et al., 2006).

For individuals affected by TTM or SPD sufferers, the sight or feel of the aforementioned imperfections or irregularities often triggers episodes of urges or a sense of tension, which are subsequently relieved through the act of pulling or picking (Tucker et al., 2011; Woods, Flessner, et al., 2006). Additionally, it is common for individuals with TTM or SPD to exhibit post-pulling or post-picking behaviors. For TTM, these actions may include playing with pulled hair between the fingers, examining the hair, licking, or even ingesting it (Christenson, Mackenzie, et al., 1991). Studies have indicated that trichophagia, the act of eating pulled hair, occurs in approximately 20 to 25% of individuals with TTM (Bottesi et al., 2016; Grant & Odlaug, 2008). In the case of SPD, post-picking behavior might involve rolling the skin between fingers (45%), wiping the picked skin in a towel (52%), discarding the skin in the trash (42%), or even consuming the skin (35%) (Wilhelm et al., 1999).

There are two distinct styles of pulling and picking behavior: *focused* and *automatic/unfocused* pulling or picking (Arnold et al., 1998; Christenson & Mackenzie, 1994). *Focused* pulling or picking refers to a deliberate behavior aimed at regulating uncomfortable physical sensations or emotions preceding the action. In contrast, *automatic* pulling or picking involves a more automatic, habit-like behavior occurring without the individual's conscious awareness. This less conscious behavior often manifests when the individual is engaged in sedentary or passive activities like reading, studying, driving, watching television, or lying in bed (Arnold et al., 1998; Bottesi et al., 2016). Most individuals with TTM and SPD exhibit both focused and unfocused pulling or picking to some extent (Arnold et al., 1998; Christenson, Mackenzie, et al., 1991). Previous investigations have suggested that a minority, fewer than 0.01% of individuals, engage exclusively in either focused or unfocused pulling (C. A. Flessner et al., 2008).

Regarding the context of pulling or picking, most sufferers tend to engage in these behaviors when they are alone (Christenson, Mackenzie, et al., 1991; Wilhelm et al., 1999). Many sufferers describe entering a trance-like state, experiencing a loss of control during the pulling or picking episodes (Bottesi et al., 2016; Wilhelm et al., 1999). Moreover, it is common to experience an increase in pulling or picking behaviors during the evenings (Arnold et al., 1999; Christenson, Mackenzie, et al., 1991), potentially related to increased fatigue that makes it more challenging to resist these urges.

2.1.2 Diagnostic criteria

TTM has traversed a notable journey within the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM) (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Initially introduced in the DSM–III–R in 1987, TTM was classified as an *impulse control disorder not otherwise specified*. Subsequent DSM versions (DSM–IV and DSM–IV–TR) retained TTM within this category, introducing a revised version of the diagnostic criteria, notably involving the necessity of reporting rising tension, or an "urge", before pulling or when attempting to resist pulling (criterion B), and experiencing subsequent pleasure, gratification, or relief during or post–pulling (criterion C) (Lochner et al., 2011).

However, over subsequent decades, a growing body of research raised doubts regarding the universal applicability of these criteria across all cases of TTM or their presence in every episode of hair-pulling (Duke et al., 2009; Lochner et al., 2011; Woods, Flessner, et al., 2006). Studies comparing individuals experiencing tension before pulling with those who did not, found no differences in severity, comorbidity, or impairment related to hair-pulling (du Toit et al., 2001; Lochner et al., 2011). Consequently, the current DSM-5 version eliminated criteria B and C for TTM and relocated it to the Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders chapter (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

While the updated criteria of DSM-5 are more including, Lochner et al. (2011) intriguingly posit that criterion B and C highlight "the characteristic driven nature of pulling" which could be valuable in differential diagnosis. They propose that to underscore the typical features of TTM, and refrain from perceiving it as a solitary symptom, descriptors such as "urge" or "seemingly driven" might be beneficial additions to the criteria in future iterations of the DSM (Lochner et al., 2011).

In contrast, despite documentation in medical literature dating back to the 19th century, SPD gained recognition as a distinct psychiatric disorder only in the

latest DSM-5 edition, where it finds its place in the Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders category (American Psychiatric Association, 2013; Grant & Chamberlain, 2022).

2.1.3 Comorbidity

Psychiatric comorbidities are prevalent in both TTM and SPD, potentially exacerbating hair-pulling or skin-picking behaviors and impeding treatment efficacy, highlighting the necessity for their early identification during initial assessments (Jones et al., 2018).

A comprehensive survey conducted by Grant et al. (2020) revealed that a majority of individuals with TTM also presented with at least one concurrent psychiatric condition, consistent with previous studies indicating comorbidity rates ranging from 39% to 50% (Christenson, Mackenzie, et al., 1991; Houghton et al., 2016). Moreover, in TTM cases, comorbidity correlates with more severe TTM symptoms (Lochner et al., 2019). Common comorbidities in TTM encompass anxiety disorders, depression, OCD, SPD and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) (Grant et al., 2020; Lochner et al., 2019). Additionally, a substantial majority of TTM sufferers report a direct association between their TTM symptoms and the development of comorbidities (Woods, Flessner, et al., 2006).

Similarly, psychiatric comorbidities are highly prevalent among individuals with SPD. Studies suggest that approximately 50–65% of individuals with SPD concurrently manifest other psychiatric disorders (Arnold et al., 1998; Grant, Redden, Leppink, Odlaug, et al., 2016; Odlaug & Grant, 2008a). Consistent with TTM, the most frequently endorsed comorbidities in SPD include depression, anxiety disorders, OCD, TTM, ADHD and nicotine dependence, and alcohol dependence (Grant & Chamberlain, 2020; Machado et al., 2018; Odlaug & Grant, 2008a). Notably, a recent in-depth study by Grant et al. (2022) comprising inperson assessments of 260 individuals with SPD, identified TTM as the most prevalent comorbidity (24%), followed by generalized anxiety disorder and major depressive disorder (22% each). In contrast, comorbidity rates with other OCDRDs such as OCD (7%) and Body Dysmorphic Disorder (BDD) (2%) were notably lower compared to previous epidemiological studies on SPD comorbidity (Grant & Chamberlain, 2022). As postulated in another clinical study by Odlaug et al. (2008b), these elevated rates in prior epidemiological studies might stem from the inclusion of individuals exhibiting skin-picking secondary to OCD and BDD, and thereby receiving dual diagnoses.

Moreover, recent research suggests that when TTM and SPD co-occur, there is a tendency for the severity of pulling and picking behaviors to be comparable, with more severe pulling correlating with more pronounced picking. In addition, in individuals exhibiting both TTM and SPD, the pulling/picking subtypes (automatic vs focused pulling/picking) were found to be correlated (Lin et al., 2023).

2.2 Epidemiology

2.2.1 Prevalence

TTM prevalence rates vary across studies, ranging from 0.6 % to 3.5 %. An earlier study reported that 0.6% of the surveyed US college or university students met the DSM-III-R criteria for lifetime TTM. However, when the tension criterion (Criterion B) was omitted, aligning with DSM-5 criteria, the lifetime prevalence rate for TTM increased to 2.5% (Christenson, Pyle, et al., 1991). Recent online survey-based studies revealed lifetime prevalence rates ranging from 0.7% to 3.5% (Grzesiak et al., 2017; Houghton et al., 2018; Solley & Turner, 2018). The first extensive epidemiological study assessing TTM prevalence in the US general population found a prevalence rate of 1.7% (Grant et al., 2020).

Historically, TTM has been associated with a pronounced female preponderance, with clinical samples being predominantly composed of females (Grant, Redden, Leppink, Chamberlain, et al., 2016). However, recent studies have questioned this gender disparity. In the comprehensive community study by Grant et al. (2020), TTM rates did not significantly differ by gender. This trend was also observed in some previous, albeit smaller, studies (Duke et al., 2009; Odlaug & Grant, 2010; Siddiqui et al., 2012). Additionally, among children, the gender distribution of TTM appears to be equal (Chang et al., 1991). Although the gender gap in TTM prevalence is less pronounced, females with TTM report significantly greater levels of distress and perceived impact on their lives due to hair-pulling compared to males with TTM (Grant et al., 2020).

SPD also exhibits varying prevalence rates across studies, ranging approximately from 1% to 5% (Grant & Chamberlain, 2020; Hayes et al., 2009; Keuthen et al.,

2010; Monzani et al., 2012). The most recent large-scale epidemiological study by Grant & Chamberlain (2020), the first of its kind in the US general population, reported a lifetime prevalence of SPD at 3.1%. Consistent with prior research, Grant et al. found SPD to be more common in females than males; however, the difference, a ratio of 1.2 females to males, was notably smaller than the previously reported female preponderance of approximately 75% (Arnold et al., 1998; Hayes et al., 2009; Keuthen et al., 2010; Machado et al., 2018).

2.2.2 Course

TTM and SPD can manifest across all age groups, yet both disorders consistently exhibit an average onset in early adolescence (Bottesi et al., 2016; Christenson, Mackenzie, et al., 1991; Grant & Chamberlain, 2022; Jones et al., 2018), with the severity of pulling and picking peaking at the transition from adolescence to adulthood (Lin et al., 2023). Notably, the average age of onset for TTM tends to be significantly later for males (19.0 years) compared to females (14.8 years) (Grant et al., 2020). This difference, particularly with females experiencing onset closer to puberty, suggests hormonal implications in TTM (Christenson, Pyle, et al., 1991; Everett et al., 2020; Grant, 2019). Moreover, older onset in TTM has been linked to more severe hair-pulling symptoms (Odlaug et al., 2012) and greater impairment (Grant et al., 2020). Individuals with SPD often associate the onset of skin-picking with pre-existing dermatologic conditions, such as acne (Wilhelm et al., 1999). Unfortunately, recent research reports that dermatologists rarely consider the psychological dimension in acne treatment, with fewer than 5% of SPD patients referred to psychiatric care despite 90% undergoing topical acne treatments and 40% receiving systemic acne therapy (Anzengruber et al., 2018). This is concerning, as the lack of appropriate psychiatric support has the potential to trigger a resurgence of skin-picking, even in response to a minor reappearance of acne (Gupta & Gupta, 1996).

The chronic nature of both TTM and SPD typically involves fluctuating symptom severity (Snorrason et al., 2012). For some, the pulling- or picking severity increases premenstrually or during menstruation (Keuthen et al., 1997; Wilhelm et al., 1999). While automatic pulling seems to remain stable across the lifespan among women with TTM, focused pulling has exhibited fluctuations, in particular increasing during puberty and showing mild increments during perimenopauseperiods characterized by hormonal changes. However, this potential correlation necessitates further investigation (Flessner et al., 2009).

2.3 Etiology and maintenance

2.3.1 Etiology

The etiology of TTM and SPD is not well understood yet. However, an interaction of genetic, psychological, social and neurobiological factors is believed to explain the emergence and the maintenance of the disorders (Duke et al., 2010; Monzani et al., 2012; Woods & Houghton, 2014). It has been proposed that the etiological mechanisms of TTM and SPD are shared and are likely affecting both disorders (Monzani et al., 2014).

2.3.2 Genetic contribution

Both TTM and SPD run in families (Snorrason et al., 2012). Several studies report increased incidence of hair-pulling and skin-picking behaviors among relatives of individuals affected by TTM or SPD (Bienvenu et al., 2012; Christenson et al., 1992; Keuthen et al., 2014; Schlosser et al., 1994; Swedo & Rapoport, 1991). Moreover, higher-than-expected rates of hair-pulling (5%) and skin-picking (45%) have been noted among first-degree relatives of affected individuals (Schlosser et al., 1994; Wilhelm et al., 1999).

Twin studies have yielded varied outcomes regarding the genetic contribution to TTM. Monzani et al. (2014) reported that 32% of the variance in symptoms of TTM was attributed to genetic factors, whereas another study by Novak et al. (2009) indicated that as much as 76% of the variance could be accounted for by genetic influences. Research on genetic factors associated with SPD also vary. Earlier studies reported rates between 40% and 47% (Monzani et al., 2012; Monzani et al., 2014), whereas recent findings suggest that genetic factors contribute to approximately 80% of the variance in SPD (Khorramdel et al., 2022).

To date, no published genome-wide association studies (GWAS), copy number variant (CNV) analyses, or whole exome sequencing (WES) have been conducted

specifically on TTM) and SPD (Crowley, 2023). Nonetheless, animal research has identified several genes associated with these conditions, notably Hoxb8, Sapap3, and Slitrk5 (Everett et al., 2020; Grant, 2019). Mutations in Hoxb8 or Slitrk5 genes in mice have resulted in excessive grooming behavior (Nagarajan et al., 2018; Shmelkov et al., 2010). Similarly, mice with a deletion of the Sapap3 gene exhibited comparable excessive grooming behaviors (Welch et al., 2007). The potential involvement of the Sapap3 gene in TTM is further supported by human studies (Züchner et al., 2009), where rare heterozygous variants of Sapap3 were more prevalent in individuals with TTM compared to healthy controls. However, a comprehensive understanding of the genetic underpinnings of TTM and SPD requires genome–wide association studies for conclusive insights.

2.3.3 Environmental risk factors

Snorrasson et al. (2012), in their review of TTM and SPD, highlight evidence from experimental studies and self-report surveys indicating that an understimulated environment may pose a risk factor for these disorders. The lack of stimulation often leads to boredom, a known trigger for hair-pulling and skin-picking. Moreover, Snorrasson references case reports suggesting that prolonged periods of low stimulation may precede the onset of TTM and SPD. However, further studies are necessary to thoroughly investigate this hypothesis.

In Özten et al.'s study (2015), individuals diagnosed with TTM and SPD reported a significantly higher frequency of traumatic and negative events during childhood compared to healthy controls. This suggests a potential association between trauma, post-traumatic stress, and the development of TTM and SPD. Nevertheless, further longitudinal research is crucial to determine whether trauma and post-traumatic stress precede the onset of TTM and SPD.

2.3.4 Neurobiological underpinnings of hair-pulling and skin-picking

Significant gaps persist in understanding the neuroanatomical structures and functions associated with TTM and SPD. Specific studies have revealed functional abnormalities in the brains of individuals with TTM, involving affect regulation, habit learning, and top-down cognition (Chamberlain et al., 2018; Chamberlain et al., 2008). Furthermore, longer TTM duration and increased severity have shown associations with elevated mean diffusivity in white matter tracts within the fronto-striatal-thalamic pathway (Roos et al., 2013). Roos et al. (2015) observed notable disparities in the neurobiological profiles of TTM and SPD, particularly in brain structure volumes, cortical thickness, and engagement of fronto-striatal pathways. Increased involvement of the ventral striatum, prevalent in individuals with SPD, implies heightened engagement of the reward system. Conversely, extensive engagement of the parahippocampal gyrus, observed in individuals with TTM, suggests a plausible explanation for the dissociative symptoms frequently experienced during hair-pulling in a 'trancelike' state (Roos et al., 2015).

A recent neuroimaging study by Grant et al., encompassing both TTM and SPD (2022), indicates abnormalities of the inferior frontal gyrus and suggests that these constitute a core feature of these disorders. Specifically, Grant et al.'s study explores reward-related task activation and reports significant hyperactivation of the bilateral inferior frontal gyrus in individuals with TTM and SPD compared to healthy controls when anticipating reward or punishment. These findings correspond with the diagnostic criteria for TTM and SPD, underscoring the failed attempts to reduce pulling or picking, indicating a dysregulated reward circuitry in these disorders. Grant et al. (2022) argue that these findings, combined with preceding neurocognitive studies, could imply an overactivation of the inferior frontal gyrus in response to reward or punishment anticipation in patients with TTM and SPD, impeding this region's capacity to effectively execute additional cognitive functions, such as the top-down regulation of automated behavior. If substantiated, therapeutic approaches targeting TTM and SPD through medications or psychotherapies mitigating subcortical reward pathways might aid the inferior frontal gyrus in enhancing topdown control. This could occur by liberating the processing capacity of this region.

Regarding medication responses, various neurotransmitter and neuropeptide systems have been implicated in TTM and SPD. Swedo et al. support the involvement of the serotonergic system in TTM, citing clomipramine's significant reduction of TTM symptoms (Swedo et al., 1989). Woods et al. (2014) note several studies supporting the role of the dopamine system in stereotypic and grooming behaviors in animals. Human studies have demonstrated increased stereotypic hair-pulling in response to dopaminergic agents (Martin et al., 1998) and decreased pulling with dopamine blockers (Van Ameringen et al., 2010). Additionally, the involvement of the glutamate system in TTM and SPD is suggested by positive responses to N-acetylcysteine, with notable reductions in hair-pulling and skin-picking (Grant, Chamberlain, et al., 2016; Grant et al., 2009).

2.3.5 Psychological models

The emergence and maintenance of TTM and SPD can, to a certain extent, be explained by psychological factors. The actions of hair-pulling and skin-picking can be comprehended through a blend of classical and operant conditioning (Mansueto et al., 1997). The pulling and picking are typically triggered by a rising physical impulse or urge (Mansueto et al., 1997; Wilhelm et al., 1999). What stimuli that come to cue these triggers is developed by classical conditioning. These cues can be both external and internal (Mansueto et al., 1997).

External cues encompass settings such as bedrooms, bathrooms, cars, work desks, and implements like tweezers and mirrors. Activities, emotions, and thoughts contribute significantly to shaping the associations formed between these external cues and the urge to pull or pick. For instance, bedrooms often evoke grooming rituals, relaxation, or contemplation of emotionally impactful events from the day. Frequent co-occurrence of these conditions alongside pulling behaviors in the bedroom fosters secondary associations between the urge to pull and this specific setting, forged through classical conditioning. Over time, the bedroom evolves into a trigger for the urge to pull, even in the absence of the initial conditions. Similarly, implements like tweezers may, through classical conditioning, become associated cues that trigger the urge to pull or pick (Mansueto et al., 1997).

Internal cues, on the other hand, pertain to emotional triggers for pulling or picking, involving the physiological state of tension as well as a spectrum of feelings such as anxiety, boredom, anger, fatigue, guilt, and even positive emotions of happiness and excitement (Mansueto et al., 1997; Wilhelm et al., 1999). It is worth noting that, within a classical conditioning framework, both positive and negative emotions can act as cues for the behavior (Mansueto, 1997). Internal cues also encompass sensations—visual, tactile, and physical sensations associated with the hair or skin—that might serve as potential triggers for the impulse to pull or pick (Mansueto et al., 1997; Wilhelm et al., 1999).

Operant conditioning comes into play as the pulling or picking serves a function for the individual. The pulling or picking frequently function to down-regulate negative emotionality, such as distressing thoughts, feelings and urges (Lochner et al., 2021; Roberts et al., 2013) and when this occurs the behavior is negatively reinforced. On the other hand, when the pulling/picking leads to pleasure or gratification, the behavior is positively reinforced. Subsequently, the urge experienced by the individual is likely to be followed by the behavior reinforced previously, perpetuating a cycle of pulling or picking (Mansueto et al., 1997; Odlaug & Grant, 2008a; Tucker et al., 2011).

Several studies have highlighted the counterproductive nature of pulling and picking, as a significant percentage of individuals report experiencing anxiety not only as a precipitator but also as a consequence of the behavior itself. Consequently, this reinforces the vicious cycle even further (Diefenbach et al., 2002; Mansueto et al., 1997; Woods, Flessner, et al., 2006).

The phenomena of escaping negative emotionality through maladaptive behaviors, like pulling/picking, is also known as *experiential avoidance*, a term coined within the framework of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy, which constitutes a part of the third wave of cognitive behavior therapy. As described above, a vicious circle of pulling/picking is created when the individual finds the avoidance behaviors initially effective in reducing the unwanted negative emotionality, but over time, the avoidance of negative emotionality paradoxically increases its frequency and exacerbates the struggles with it. This leads to a rigid and ineffective response to these private experiences, known as *psychological inflexibility*. This inflexibility limits adaptation in the face of uncomfortable experiences, hindering engagement in meaningful life activities based on personal values (Hayes et al., 1996).

Psychological inflexibility has been associated with TTM severity, urges to pull, increased distress related to pulling, and higher impairment levels (Alexander et al., 2017; Begotka et al., 2004; Houghton et al., 2014; Lee et al., 2020). It also mediates TTM severity and treatment outcomes (Houghton et al., 2014). These findings suggest that targeting psychological inflexibility in the treatment of TTM and SPD may be beneficial in reducing symptom severity associated with these disorders.

2.4 Impact

The impact of TTM and SPD on individuals is characterized by significant distress and functional impairment (Diefenbach et al., 2005; Tucker et al., 2011; Wilhelm et al., 1999; Woods, Flessner, et al., 2006). These disorders often disrupt various aspects of daily life, affecting social interactions and occupational activities. For instance, almost all TTM participants and nearly half of the SPD participants reported interference in social interactions. Additionally, around 80% of TTM participants and 35% of SPD participants reported disruptions in occupational activities (Diefenbach et al., 2005; Flessner & Woods, 2006). These disruptions are unsurprising given the time-consuming nature of hair-pulling and skinpicking behaviors. Besides the time spent engaging in these behaviors, individuals invest significant time concealing their effects due to social embarrassment (Arnold et al., 1998; Tucker et al., 2011; Woods, Flessner, et al., 2006). Feelings of social embarrassment are common among affected individuals and often hinder them from seeking treatment (Diefenbach et al., 2005; Wilhelm et al., 1999).

The social impact of TTM and SPD extends to avoidance of social events, public spaces, vacations, and difficulties in maintaining close relationships (Flessner & Woods, 2006; Tucker et al., 2011; Woods, Flessner, et al., 2006). Studies suggest that social and interpersonal impairment tends to escalate with age, ranging from mild in childhood to moderate or severe during middle to late adulthood (Flessner et al., 2009).

Occupationally, these behaviors frequently interfere with job duties and pose challenges for students in academic settings. For some individuals, these challenges result in job loss or hindered career advancement (Flessner & Woods, 2006; Tucker et al., 2011; Woods, Flessner, et al., 2006).

Anxiety serves as both a trigger and a consequence of these behaviors. To cope with the distress, some individuals turn to substances like alcohol or tobacco to alleviate the negative feelings associated with pulling or picking (Woods, Flessner, et al., 2006). Recent studies indicate that nearly 20% of individuals with TTM and SPD also meet criteria for alcohol or drug abuse, suggesting this as a comorbidity further exacerbating the impact of these disorders (Grant & Chamberlain, 2020; Grant et al., 2020).

Beyond distress and functional impairments, medical complications arise from pulling and picking behaviors. TTM, for instance, may lead to the ingestion of

pulled hair, in rare cases forming trichobezoars (i.e., accumulations of hair masses) within the lower gastrointestinal tract. These masses vary in size and can result in abdominal pain, nausea, vomiting, and weight loss. In some cases, trichobezoars can obstruct the digestive system, necessitating surgical intervention (Snorrason et al., 2021). Other complications include infections, carpal tunnel syndrome, muscle fatigue, and atypical hair regrowth (regarding color or texture) or permanent hair loss (O'Sullivan et al., 1996).

Similarly, SPD often causes tissue damage and minor sores in the majority of individuals (90%) (Wilhelm et al., 1999). For many, these medical complications involve more severe tissue damage, including lesions (68%) or deep craters (45%) (Arnold et al., 1998; Wilhelm et al., 1999). In severe cases, individuals may appear slightly disfigured due to persistent picking. (Wilhelm et al., 1999). Additionally, a significant number of individuals (32 – 61%) report infections as a consequence of picking behaviors (Arnold et al., 1998; Wilhelm et al., 1999).

2.5 Assessment of trichotillomania and skin-picking disorder

Individuals suspected of having TTM or SPD, should undergo a comprehensive differential diagnosis evaluation (Jones et al., 2018). In cases where an underlying cutaneous complication is suspected, a thorough dermatologic assessment is advised. Instances exist where these disorders coincide with primary dermatological conditions like acne excoriée, or where hair-pulling or skinpicking cause medical complications necessitating prioritized medical intervention alongside or before psychiatric treatment (Jafferany & Patel, 2019; Jones et al., 2018).

During clinical interviews, evaluating the current hair-pulling or skin-picking manifestation, including specific pulling/picking behaviors, distress levels, and functional impairment, is crucial (Jafferany & Patel, 2019; Jones et al., 2018). Collecting information about pulling or picking styles (focused or automatic) is important as it may influence treatment focus (Christopher A. Flessner et al., 2008). Additionally, gathering details about past treatments – psychological and pharmacological – regarding duration, compliance, learned strategies, and perceived effectiveness is invaluable (Jones et al., 2018). Sensitivity and empathy in interviews are crucial due to the common feelings of shame and

embarrassment among individuals with these disorders (Jafferany & Patel, 2019; Jones et al., 2018). Furthermore, clinical interviews should also screen for comorbidities, which can complicate or hinder the TTM/SPD treatment (Jafferany & Patel, 2019; Jones et al., 2018).

The subsequent section presents commonly used assessment tools for TTM and SPD.

2.5.1 Instruments measuring trichotillomania

2.5.1.1 The National Institute of Mental Health Trichotillomania Severity Scale and Trichotillomania Impairment Scale (NIMH TSS/TIS)

The National Institute of Mental Health Trichotillomania Severity Scale and Trichotillomania Impairment Scale (NIMH-TSS/TIS) is a clinician-administered questionnaire rating TTM symptoms (Swedo et al., 1989). The questionnaire consists of two sub scales, NIMH-TSS and NIMH-TIS. The NIMH-TSS rates the severity according to various aspects of TTM such as time spent pulling, resistance to urges, overall distress, and interference on a O-5 scale. The NIMH-TIS rates the impairment due to the pulling on a scale from O (indicating no impairment) to 10 (indicating severe impairment). The psychometric properties of NIMH-TSS and TIS are weak, with low internal consistency (α = 0.52) and low test-retest reliability (r =0.61) (Barber et al., 2023).

2.5.1.2 The Massachusetts General Hospital Hairpulling Scale (MGH-HPS)

The Massachusetts General Hospital Hairpulling Scale (MGH–HPS) (Keuthen et al., 1995) is a self-report questionnaire designed to assess the severity of hairpulling behaviors. Comprising 7 items, the scale explores aspects such as urges to pull hair, actual pulling behavior, and the resulting consequences. The items are rated on a scale from 0 to 4 and subsequently summed to yield a total score ranging from 0 to 28, where higher scores indicate greater severity. The MGH– HPS has exhibited robust internal consistency ((α = .89) (Keuthen et al., 1995) and (α =0.83) (Barber et al., 2023)), favorable to moderate convergent validity (Barber et al., 2023; O'Sullivan et al., 1995) and favorable divergent (O'Sullivan et al., 1995) and discriminant validity (Barber et al., 2023). The level of the testretest reliability varies considerably across studies ((r = .97) (O'Sullivan et al., 1995), and (r=0.55) (Barber et al., 2023)).

2.5.1.3 The Milwaukee Inventory for Styles of Trichotillomania – Adult Report (MIST-A) As different styles of pulling can have implications for which treatments sufferers should receive, the assessment of these is important (Jones et al., 2018). The Milwaukee Inventory for Styles of Trichotillomania – Adult Report (MIST-A) is a self-report scale intended to assess the different subtypes or styles of pulling (C. Flessner et al., 2007). The scale measure two factors, focused pulling and unfocused (automatic) pulling and each factor consists of several items. Research suggest that the MIST-A demonstrates adequate psychometric properties (C. Flessner et al., 2007).

2.5.1.4 The SAM2 Trichotillomania Assessment Instrument (SAM2 TAI)

Most TTM-assessment tools lack contextuality, requiring individuals to evaluate their hair-pulling behavior based on generalizations across various life situations, fostering broad conclusions. In order to the decrease the risk of overlooking crucial situational differences, the SAM2 Trichotillomania Assessment Instrument (SAM2 TAI) was recently developed (Taylor Browne Lūka et al., 2023). The SAM2 TAI represents a "situated" tool designed to assess TTM, examining 52 specific situations to gauge the frequency of pulling and the intensity of urges. It also encompasses various factors known to impact pulling behavior, such as external triggers, emotion regulation, and situational control. The SAM2 TAI has demonstrated high levels of construct and content validity. In addition, it was shown to only moderately correlate with the MGH-HPS, which suggests that while both situated and "not-situated" measures evaluate TTM, they capture distinct information (Taylor Browne Lūka et al., 2023).

2.5.2 Instruments measuring skin-picking disorder

2.5.2.1 The Yale-Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale Modified for Neurotic Excoriation (NE-Y-BOCS)

The Yale-Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale Modified For Neurotic Excoriation (Arnold et al., 1999) is a semi-structured and clinician-administered adaptation of the standard Yale-Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale (Y-BOCS) that measures skin-picking symptoms concerning preoccupation with skin as well as behaviors associated with skin-picking (i.e., time occupied, interference with functioning, distress, resistance and control). Comprising ten questions rated on a scale from O to 4, the NE-Y-BOCS yields a total score ranging from O to 40,

where elevated scores signify heightened severity of skin-picking symptoms. The NE-Y-BOCS has demonstrated favorable internal consistency (α = .95) (Aydin et al., 2021) and robust test-retest reliability (r = .83) (Grant et al., 2007).

2.5.2.2 The Skin Picking Scale - Revised (SPS-R)

The Skin Picking Scale – Revised (SPS–R) (Snorrason et al., 2013) serves as a selfadministered tool to assess the severity and impairment associated with skinpicking behaviors. Comprising 8 items, the scale comprehensively addresses the three impairment domains outlined in the DSM–5 criteria for SPD, namely skin lesions, subjective distress, and functional impairment. Responses are rated on a 0-4 scale and then aggregated into a 32–point total score, where higher scores indicate more pronounced skin–picking severity. The SPS–R has demonstrated satisfactory psychometric properties, exhibiting high internal consistency (α = .83) and offering preliminary evidence of convergent and discriminant validity for its two subscales (severity and impairment) (Snorrason et al., 2013).

2.5.2.3 The Skin Picking Impact Scale (SPIS)

The Skin Picking Impact Scale (SPIS) (Keuthen et al., 2001) is a self-administered questionnaire designed to assess the social, behavioral, and emotional consequences associated with skin-picking. Comprising 10 items, the scale employs a rating system from 0 to 5, which are then aggregated into a 50-point total score. Elevated scores on the SPIS signify heightened severity of skin-picking. The SPIS has demonstrated satisfactory psychometric properties, including high internal consistency (α = 0.94), along with evidence of convergent and discriminant validity for its two subscales (severity and impairment) (Keuthen et al., 2001).

2.5.2.4 The Milwaukee Inventory for the Dimensions of Adult Skin Picking (MIDAS)

Similarly, to MIST-A for TTM, The Milwaukee Inventory for the Dimensions of Adult Skin Picking (MIDAS) (Walther et al., 2009), was developed in order to assess the different subtypes of picking. MIDAS is a self-rated assessment measuring two factors, focused picking and automatic picking, each factor consisting of several items. The MIDAS has demonstrated adequate internal consistency for the two subscales ("focused picking" (α = 0.81), "automatic picking" (α = 0.77)), favorable construct validity, and good discriminant validity (Walther et al., 2008).

2.5.3 Treatment response

Across the literature, TTM symptom severity is most commonly rated using the self-rated MGH-HPS and the clinician-rated NIMH-TSS. Optimal cut-points for treatment response have also been established in a recent meta-analysis. For the MGH-HPS the optimal definition of response was 35% or a 7-point reduction compared to base-line (Farhat et al., 2019). This is in line with the cut-off proposed by Houghton et al. (2015) (45% reduction or a 7-point raw score change on the MGH-HPS). According to Farhat et al. the optimal definition of response on the NIMH-TSS is 50% or a 6-point reduction (Farhat et al., 2019). This is again, more or less in keeping with the findings by Houghton et al. (30-40% reduction or 6-point raw score difference on the NIMH-TSS) (Houghton et al., 2015). A less conservative cut-off for treatment response has been suggested by Nelson et al. (2014), recommending that researchers report it as the proportion of participants achieving a symptom reduction of 25% or more on the MGH-HPS.

In my knowledge there is no empirically supported definition of treatment response in SPD. However, Grant et al. (2010) has proposed that a 35% or greater decrease in the total score of the clinician-rated NE-Y-BOCS, should define treatment response. This definition has been used in a few studies (Aydin et al., 2020; Grant et al., 2010).

Treatment response ratings for TTM and SPD can also be based on The Clinical global impression – improvement scale (CGI-I) (Guy, 1976). The CGI-I is a well-known scale, which provides a brief assessment of a clinician's overall view of a patient's global functioning. The scale has been widely used to determine treatment response in clinical trials across psychiatric conditions (Busner & Targun, 2007) and is part of the established expert consensus definitions for treatment response in the related disorder, OCD (Mataix-Cols et al., 2016). In CGI-I, improvement is rated by an independent clinician on a seven-point scale ranging from 1 (very much improved) to 7 (very much worse). Treatment response is typically defined by a score of either 2 ("much improved") or 1 ("very much improved").

2.5.3.1 Remission

In clinical trials of TTM, remission has been reported in different ways. Houghton et al. defines disorder remission in TTM as a 55-60% reduction or 7-point raw score change on the MGH-HPS and/or a 65% reduction or 6-point raw score on the NIHM-TSS/TIS (Houghton et al., 2015). Diefenbach et al. define remission as a total score of 6 or below on the MGH-HPS (Diefenbach et al., 2006), whereas Nelson et al. set the cut-off for return to normal functioning to a total score of 9 or below.

The cut-off proposed by Nelson (1991), is derived from the definition provided by Jacobson and Truax (1991), which is widely employed as a criterion for *clinically significant change* in clinical trials involving psychiatric disorders. Following their definition, individuals whose scores fall at least two standard deviations below the mean of the dysfunctional population are deemed to have experienced clinically significant change. Although the term clinically significant change is closely associated with remission, it diverges in that it evaluates whether the improvements observed in an individual's condition are not only statistically reliable but also clinically or practically meaningful, regardless of whether they reach the threshold of diagnostic remission.

Moreover, Nelson et al. (2014) argue that because most people do not pull their hair at all for non-cosmetic reasons, complete abstinence from hair-pulling should be used as a more conservative supplement for measuring clinically significant change. Complete abstinence is reported based on the score on item 4 of the MGH-HPS, where 0 indicates complete abstinence from hair-pulling. Complete abstinence at post-treatment has predicted superior 2-year followup results after behavior therapy for TTM (Keijsers et al., 2006), which supports the use of this supplement according to Nelson et al (2014).

As for SPD, research by Snorrasson et. al. found that a cut-off score of 9 or higher on the SPS-R can differentiate between normal skin-picking behavior and compulsive skin-picking (Snorrason et al., 2022). In addition to this cut-off, Keuthen et.al., carried out sensitivity and specificity analyses on the SPIS. As per these criteria, a score of 7 or above serves to distinguish compulsive skinpicking from normal skin-picking (Keuthen et al., 2001).

Despite the above definitions, there is a lack of consistent definitions and operationalizations for treatment response and remission in TTM and SPD. This deficiency hinders the comparisons of results and communication within the field.

2.6 Treatment for trichotillomania and skin-picking disorder

The recommended first-line treatment for TTM and SPD is behavior therapy (Jones et al., 2018). Several controlled studies have evaluated the effect of behavior therapy for TTM (Azrin et al., 1980; Keiisers et al., 2016; Keiisers et al., 2006; Keuthen et al., 2011; Ninan et al., 2000; Shareh, 2018; van Minnen et al., 2003; Woods, Wetterneck, et al., 2006) and SPD (Mashayekhi Goyonlo et al., 2020; Moritz et al., 2012; Schuck et al., 2011; Teng et al., 2006; Xavier et al., 2020). While full abstinence from pulling/picking is rare in individuals who have received treatment, behavior therapy is generally considered effective, showing substantial effects for TTM (Farhat et al., 2020; McGuire et al., 2014; Slikboer et al., 2017) and moderate to large effects for SPD (Schumer et al., 2016; Selles et al., 2016) at post-treatment. However, when reported, data indicate high relapse rates following behavior therapy (Diefenbach et al., 2006; Keijsers et al., 2016; Keijsers et al., 2006; K. Rogers et al., 2014). For instance, according to Keijsers et al.'s follow-up,, 50% of participants had relapsed two years after treatment (Keijsers et al., 2006). In a trial by Rogers et al., (2014), the percentage meeting TTM criteria increased from 51% to 67% between post-treatment and 3-month follow-up. Regarding SPD, data from controlled trials have demonstrated sustained improvement until 3 months post-treatment (Schuck et al., 2011; Teng et al., 2006). Follow-up data longer than 3 months is lacking.

Unlike disorders such as OCD and BDD, where exposure and ritual prevention therapy (ERP) is the primary treatment, ERP for TTM has only been examined in case studies, showing some success (Brauer & Grant, 2017). To my knowledge, presently, there is no published study of ERP for SPD.

Behavioral treatments, with their strong evidence base and large effect sizes, appear more effective than most pharmacological treatments (Farhat et al., 2020; Ninan et al., 2000; Schumer et al., 2016; Selles et al., 2016; Slikboer et al., 2017; van Minnen et al., 2003). Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) have generally shown limited efficacy in treating TTM (Farhat et al., 2020) and have produced minor or inconclusive outcomes for SPD (Lochner et al., 2017). As of now, the American Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has not approved any medications for these disorders (Farhat et al., 2020; Jones et al., 2018). There are however single randomized trials suggesting that N-acetyl cysteine (NAC) for TTM and SPD (Grant, Chamberlain, et al., 2016; Grant et al., 2009), Memantine for TTM and SPD (Grant et al., 2023), Clomipramine (CMI) for TTM (Ninan et al., 2010)

may be at least as effective as behavioral treatments (Farhat et al., 2020; Stein et al., 2021). Replication of these head-to-head trials would strengthen the evidence base.

2.6.1 Behavior therapy

2.6.1.1 Habit reversal training

The cornerstone of behavior therapy for TTM and SPD is Habit Reversal Training (HRT). Initially developed by Azrin et al. in the early 1970s to mitigate repetitive behaviors such as habits and tics (1973), HRT was subsequently tailored for treating TTM (Azrin et al., 1980). Its primary objective is to heighten awareness of pulling or picking behaviors and disrupt automatic behavioral patterns. Presently, HRT stands as the most widely utilized technique for both TTM and SPD, adaptable to varying levels of symptom severity (Jones et al., 2018).

HRT encompasses three fundamental components: *awareness training*, *competing response* and *social support*. Awareness training aims to augment patients' consciousness of their pulling or picking behaviors. Competing response training instructs patients to engage in incompatible actions (e.g., folding hands, clenching fists) upon experiencing urges or noticing the behavior. Social support involves enlisting a close friend or relative to observe and point out the occurrence of pulling/picking, providing friendly reminders to engage in the competing response. Several meta-analyses demonstrate the efficacy of HRT for both TTM and SPD (Farhat et al., 2020; Selles et al., 2016).

2.6.1.2 Stimulus control

Another frequently employed behavioral technique, often complementing HRT, is stimulus control, aimed at reducing the occurrence of pulling or picking behaviors. Initially, stimulus control entails a comprehensive assessment of the triggers and consequences associated with pulling/picking. The patient is encouraged to observe and note the specific circumstances, settings, activities, thoughts, and emotions before and after engaging in pulling/picking behavior. Additionally, the patient tracks subsequent actions with the pulled or picked hair or skin. Following this thorough assessment, the therapist collaborates with the patient to devise strategies that diminish triggers (e.g., hiding tweezers, covering mirrors, using gloves, engaging with a fidget toy), reduce reinforcing outcomes (e.g., employing a numbing cream), or introduce alternative sources of reinforcement (e.g., interacting with a soft object) (Woods & Miltenberger, 2001).

2.6.1.3 Treatment tailored to the individual's pulling/picking style

The components of HRT and stimulus control predominantly address automatic pulling/picking behaviors. On the other hand, studies suggest that when emotional or physical distress drives these behaviors, these traditional behavioral components, may exhibit limited effectiveness, and high relapse rates in TTM and SPD (Snorrason et al., 2012; Walther et al., 2010).

To improve treatment outcomes, tailored approaches based on individual pulling or picking styles are advocated. Those engaging in focused pulling/picking may benefit from interventions targeting associated negative private experiences and teaching emotional regulation skills. Meanwhile, individuals with both automatic and focused pulling/picking might benefit from a combination of HRT and interventions aimed at addressing focused pulling (Flessner et al., 2009; Walther et al., 2010).

In line with the above, behavior therapy for TTM and SPD has been augmented with various enhancements, including cognitive therapy (Mashayekhi Goyonlo et al., 2020; Ninan et al., 2000), metacognitive therapy (Shareh, 2018), acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT) (Lee et al., 2018; Woods et al., 2022; Woods, Wetterneck, et al., 2006) and dialectical behavior therapy (DBT) (Keuthen et al., 2012). A meta-analysis by McGuire et al. (2014) suggests that behavior therapy with these enhancements yields larger effect sizes at post-treatment and subsequent 3- and 6-month follow-ups compared to stand-alone behavior therapy. However, interpreting these findings requires caution due to the increased therapeutic contact in the enhanced therapies compared to the standalone approaches. Although not specifically studied in controlled trials for SPD, evidence from the above TTM trials implies potential benefits of these enhancements for SPD patients due to the shared characteristics between the disorders (Selles et al., 2016).

2.6.1.4 ACT-enhanced behavior therapy

ACT-enhanced Behavior Therapy (AEBT) combines behavior therapy with ACT to target automatic pulling/picking while addressing focused pulling/picking through acceptance-based strategies (Woods, Wetterneck, et al., 2006).

More specifically, the ACT-components of AEBT are directed toward accomplishing four key goals: diminishing patients' dependence on ineffective emotional control strategies, nurturing patients' acceptance and willingness to engage with private experiences, training patients in recognizing how they ascribe meaning to words and thoughts and that these are not the same as reality, and encouraging patients to embrace their private experiences while actively engaging in behaviors aligning their core life values (Woods et al., 2022)

Several controlled studies have demonstrated the efficacy of AEBT for TTM in adults (Lee et al., 2018; Woods et al., 2022; Woods, Wetterneck, et al., 2006). In addition, AEBT have been found to be preliminary effective in reducing TTM-symptoms in adolescents (Twohig et al., 2021). Furthermore, apart from the studies included in this thesis, AEBT for SPD has only been evaluated in case studies (Capriotti et al., 2015).

2.6.1.5 ACT as a standalone approach

The treatment effects of ACT used as a standalone approach for TTM (Lee et al., 2020) and SPD (Twohig et al., 2006), appear to be similar to trials combining ACT and HRT. However, the small sample sizes and the uncontrolled study design in the SPD trial call for cautious interpretation of treatment effects.

2.6.2 Delivering behavior therapy in different treatment formats

Despite the existence of effective treatments, a considerable gap persists in healthcare practitioners' understanding of TTM and SPD (Capel, Petersen, Woods, et al., 2023). Consequently, individuals dealing with these conditions often report receiving uninformed care, with first–line treatments seldom being administered (Gallinat et al., 2019a; Tucker et al., 2011; Woods, Flessner, et al., 2006). For instance, Woods et al., (2006) noted that SSRIs were the most common TTM treatment, with only 15% receiving HRT. Similarly, in cases of SPD, only 26% received behavioral treatment, and less than half of these included HRT (Tucker et al., 2011).

Moreover, the lack of understanding and geographical and economic constraints significantly limit access to behavioral treatments for many affected individuals (Capel, Petersen, Woods, et al., 2023; Gallinat et al., 2019a). Additionally, shame and stigma surrounding these disorders deter individuals from seeking help (Gallinat et al., 2019a; Grant & Chamberlain, 2021). In response to these

challenges, various alternative treatment formats have been developed for TTM and SPD.

2.6.2.1 Group therapy

Group treatment is a potentially cost-effective solution, allowing specialized therapists to treat more patients in a shorter time, thereby enhancing treatment accessibility (Morrison, 2001). Studies examining behavior group therapy for TTM and SPD have demonstrated initial feasibility and efficacy (Diefenbach et al., 2006; Haaland et al., 2017; Mashayekhi Goyonlo et al., 2020; Toledo et al., 2015; Xavier et al., 2020).

2.6.2.2 Teletherapy

One drawback of group therapy is that it does not address the challenge of accessing treatment for individuals residing in geographically remote areas. For such cases, teletherapy may enhance access to treatment for TTM and SPD, via digital communication platforms. Teletherapy, explored in a controlled trial for adults with TTM, demonstrated preliminary efficacy in reducing TTM-symptoms, with nearly 60% of participants reporting clinically significant improvements (Lee et al., 2018). In addition, teletherapy has also demonstrated preliminary efficacy in reducing hair-pulling severity in adolescents with TTM (Twohig et al., 2021).

2.6.2.3 Online interventions

Online interventions offer another promising avenue for improving accessibility, particularly in regions lacking treatment providers. They possess the advantage of scaling treatment delivery, enabling fewer therapists to reach a larger patient base, thereby addressing the availability challenge. For instance, the recent implementation of iCBT for OCD and BDD in the Swedish public health system significantly reduced the average number of patients on waiting lists for face-to-face treatment by 60–70% from 2018 to 2020, while maintaining the same number of employed therapists (Lundström et al., 2023).

Controlled trials have provided some evidence supporting the use of digital behavioral treatments for TTM (Capel, Petersen, Becker, et al., 2023; Kate Rogers et al., 2014; Weidt et al., 2015) and SPD (Gallinat et al., 2019b; Moritz et al., 2012; Moritz & Rufer, 2011) reporting small to moderate effect-sizes when compared to either passive or active controls. However, interpreting these outcomes requires caution due to methodological limitations such as non-referred samples, selfreported online assessments, and high attrition rates in some studies. Notably, the digital treatments in these trials were mostly unguided or minimally supported, lacking frequent therapist monitoring and guidance, which might account for the modest effect sizes observed.

In addition to the self-help format used in the above trials, a combination of web-based self-help and in-person HRT sessions in a stepped-care approach has been proposed for severe TTM-symptoms (K. Rogers et al., 2014). An alternative, less therapist-intensive approach to enhance online interventions' effectiveness for these disorders involves therapist-supported internetdelivered behavior therapy (iBT). iBT includes tailored, interactive email support, and close monitoring of homework assignments by a therapist in addition to written self-help materials.

Supported online interventions have shown greater efficacy compared to unsupported interventions for various psychiatric disorders (Andersson et al., 2005; Richards & Richardson, 2012). Notably, individuals with TTM have expressed a preference for therapist–supported interventions over nonsupported versions (Arabatzoudis et al., 2021). Prior research has demonstrated the effectiveness of iBT for related disorders like obsessive–compulsive disorder and body dysmorphic disorder (Andersson et al., 2012; Enander et al., 2016) suggesting potential applicability for TTM and SPD.

2.7 Conclusions

TTM and SPD are two relatively common psychiatric conditions associated with high levels of distress and impairment in social, as well as in occupational domains. Behavior therapy (i.e., HRT) is the first-line treatment, but the majority of individuals suffering from TTM or SPD are unable to access to this treatment due to a shortage of competence amongst health care professionals and likely also due to geographic barriers. New treatment formats, such as internetdelivered therapy, if proven efficacious, have the potential to make evidencebased treatment for TTM and SPD more available nationwide.

3 Aims

The overall aim of this thesis was to develop and evaluate behavioral treatments for TTM and SPD in formats that were easy to disseminate in order to increase the availability and accessibility of evidence-based treatment for these disorders. More specifically the aims of this thesis were as follows below:

3.1 Study I: ACT-enhanced group behavior therapy for trichotillomania and skin-picking disorder: A feasibility study

To enhance the availability of treatment for TTM and SPD, especially for care facilities serving smaller populations seeking assistance for these disorders, Study I in this thesis evaluated a group therapy intervention involving patients with TTM and SPD treated together within a single group.

The primary aim of Study I was to develop and assess the feasibility and preliminary efficacy of ACT-enhanced group behavior therapy delivered in a mixed group format for adult patients with TTM and/or SPD in routine psychiatric care. Additionally, we aimed to investigate the preliminary long-term efficacy of the treatment, assessing outcomes up to 12 months after the conclusion of the treatment period.

3.2 Study II: Internet-delivered acceptance-enhanced behavior therapy for TTM and SPD: A pilot trial

To further increase the availability and accessibility of BT for TTM and SPD, the aim of Study II was to develop and investigate the feasibility and preliminary efficacy of therapist-guided internet-delivered AEBT for patients with TTM and/or SPD in routine psychiatric care. In addition, we also aimed to investigate whether the treatment outcomes were sustained in the long term (up to 12 months after the end of treatment).

3.3 Study III: Experiences of internet-delivered acceptance-enhanced behavior therapy for TTM and SPD: A qualitative study

The aim of Study III was to investigate the participants' experiences of therapistguided internet-delivered AEBT for TTM and/or SPD in order to ameliorate and refine the treatment protocol for Study IV.

3.4 Study IV: Internet-delivered acceptance-enhanced behavior therapy for skin-picking disorder: A randomized controlled trial

The aim of Study IV was to further evaluate the feasibility and efficacy of therapist-guided internet-delivered AEBT for adult patients with SPD compared to a wait-list condition in a randomized trial. Furthermore, we aimed to investigate the long-term effects of treatment (up to 6 months after the end of treatment).

4 The empirical studies

4.1 STUDY I

4.1.1 Methods

Study I was an open, uncontrolled trial designed to evaluate the feasibility and efficacy of ACT-enhanced group behavior therapy (AEGBT) for mixed-diagnosis groups. This included patients with TTM and SPD, within the context of routine psychiatric care. A total of 40 adult patients with TTM and/or SPD were enrolled in the study, and assessments were conducted from baseline up to 12 months following treatment. The intervention consisted of 10 weeks of AEGBT, and included both traditional interventions (e.g., HRT and stimulus control) as well as more recent acceptance-based techniques (e.g., embracing the urges and mindfulness). The treatment was followed by five booster sessions during the subsequent year. The primary end-point was post-treatment. The primary outcome measure for TTM was the Massachusetts General Hospital Hairpulling Scale (MGH-HPS), and for SPD the Skin Picking Scale-Revised (SPS-R), assessed at pre-treatment, post-treatment and right before the start of each booster session. Secondary outcomes included treatment response and remission according to the Clinical global impression-severity and -improvement scales (CGI-S, CGI-I) (Guy, 1976).

4.1.2 Main results

The result demonstrated a high group attendance and a low degree of treatment dropouts. The group format facilitated therapists in seeing 25% more patients in comparison to an individual treatment format. Additionally, the results indicated significant decreases in hair-pulling and skin-picking severity from baseline to post-treatment, with large effect sizes observed at post-treatment (MGH-HPS, z(19) = 8.36, p < .05, d = 0.77; SPS-R, z(27) = 10.27, p < .001, d = 1.24). These improvements were significantly sustained at the 12-month follow-up for patients with SPD (SPS-R, z(27) = 10.07, p<.001, d = 0.73), but not for patients with TTM (MGH-HPS, z(19) = 10.28, p = 0.672, d = 0.19). At the post-treatment assessment, 18 of the participants (45%) were classified as responders, and this response rate was maintained at the 12-month follow-up. Four participants (21%) with TTM and three participants (11%) with SPD were considered to be in remission at the post-treatment assessment.

4.2 Study II

4.2.1 Methods

Study II was an open, uncontrolled trial of therapist–supported internet– delivered ACT–enhanced behavior therapy (iBT) with the objective of investigating the feasibility, acceptability, and preliminary efficacy for patients with TTM and/or SPD in a routine psychiatric setting. Twenty–five adult patients referred by clinicians, with TTM (n = 7) and/or SPD (n = 18), received 10 weeks of therapist–supported iBT. The treatment was followed by four booster modules. Similar to the intervention in Study I, the iBT program incorporated both HRT, stimulus control and acceptance–based techniques. The primary end–point was post–treatment. Clinician– and self–rated outcomes were assessed at pre– treatment, post–treatment and immediately before the delivery of each booster module. The MGH–HPS served as the primary outcome measure for TTM, while the SPS–R was utilized for SPD. Response and remission rates were part of the secondary outcome measures, and these were rated according to the CGI-S and CGI–I (Guy, 1976).

4.2.2 Main results

The results demonstrated high ratings of satisfaction and credibility by most of the participants. On average, participants completed 7.2 out of 10 internet modules, and only five participants prematurely terminated the treatment. There were significant decreases in the severity of hair-pulling and skin-picking symptoms on the primary outcome measures from pretreatment to post-treatment, with large within-group effect sizes (MGH-HPS, z(7) = 8.49, p < .001, d = 0.89; SPS-R, z(18) = 12.75, p < .001, d = 1.75). For participants with SPD, the positive changes in symptom reduction remained significant up to the one-year follow up (SPS-R, z(14) = 13.18, p < .001, d = 1.2), while the improvements for participants with TTM remained significant up to the 6-month follow up (MGH-HPS, z(5) = 8.37, p < .044, d = 1.3). Forty-eight percent (n = 12) of the participants were classified as responders at post-treatment, a figure that decreased to 20% (n = 5) at the 12-month follow-up. One participant with TTM was considered to be in remission both at post-treatment and at the 12-month follow-up. The

comparable figure for SPD was 22% (n = 4) at post-treatment, and this remission rate was maintained at the 12-month follow-up.

4.3 Study III

4.3.1 Methods

Study III constituted a qualitative follow-up study investigating the participants' experiences of undergoing iBT (from Study II). Ten participants were randomly selected from the feasibility trial of iBT and underwent semi-structured telephone interviews. These interviews followed an interview guide shaped by prior research, were recorded, and subsequently transcribed. The data underwent coding and thematic analysis, a versatile qualitative approach (Braun & Clarke, 2006).The coding process systematically followed a structured six-step procedure encompassing data familiarization, systematic coding, theme identification, theme review, theme definition and naming, and integration of themes into a comprehensive report.

4.3.2 Main results

Five major themes emerged: Treatment program, Therapist contact, Treatment components, Participant readiness, and Treatment effects, each with several sub-themes. The analysis unveiled that most participants regarded iBT as beneficial and efficacious. While some appreciated the treatment's flexibility, others conveyed a need for increased support. Furthermore, the analysis hinted at potential enhancements, such as streamlining the textual content of the program and simplifying the terminology. A considerable number of participants noticed repetition in the volume of homework assignments, which, on occasion, elicited stress and felt burdensome rather than being conducive to the treatment process.

4.4 Study IV

4.4.1 Methods

Study IV was a single-blind randomized controlled trial comparing iBT to a waitlist-control condition for adults with SPD conducted in an academic medical

center. A total of 70 self-referred adult participants were included and assessments were conducted from baseline up to 12 months post-treatment. Additionally, the feasibility and acceptability of iBT were evaluated. Participants randomized to the intervention group received 10 weeks of therapist-supported iBT, while those in the control group were placed on a waitlist. The control group was offered iBT directly after the 1-month follow-up assessment. The primary end-point was at post-treatment. The primary outcome measure was the Skin Picking Scale – Revised (SPS-R). Response rates were reported according to the CGI-I (Guy, 1976). Furthermore, self-rated remission, based on the cut-off proposed by Snorrasson et al. (2022), and clinician-rated remission, determined during the clinician post-assessment, were also reported.

4.4.2 Main results

At the post-treatment assessment, the iBT group exhibited significantly greater improvement in SPD-symptoms compared to the control group (between-group difference -5.1 points, F = 9.69, p <.001). The between-group effect size fell within the large range, with a bootstrapped *d* of 1.3 (95% CI = 0.92–1.69). In the iBT group, 43% of the participants were classified as responders, while no participants in the control group met the criteria for response. In terms of remission, 31% of the participants in the iBT group achieved remission, in contrast to only 3% in the control group. At the 6-month follow-up, SPD symptoms had increased compared to post-treatment, although the improvement from pre-treatment remained significant. Additionally, the results indicated high levels of treatment satisfaction, credibility, and a positive working alliance.

4.5 Ethical considerations

To ensure ethical guidelines were followed and ethical considerations were adequately addressed before commencing the studies, all studies included in this thesis obtained ethical approvals from one of the following ethical authorities: the Regional Ethical Review Board in Stockholm (Study I) and the Swedish Ethical Review Authority (Study II–IV). All involved researchers were trained in the principles of Good Clinical Practice (*Good Clinical Practice*, 2001) and the declaration of Helsinki ("World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects," 2013).

Prior to inclusion in any of the four studies, participants received both verbal and written information, and informed written consent was obtained from all participants. In the informed consent, participants were explicitly informed that their participation in the study was entirely voluntary and that they had the option to withdraw their consent at any time without the need to provide an explanation. Results from all the included studies were analyzed at a group level, and all individuals were pseudonymized to prevent the identification of individual participants.

Ethical considerations played a pivotal role in determining the study designs as well. In both Study I and II, treatment formats (group treatment and internetdelivered treatment) that had not been comprehensively evaluated previously were explored. For this reason, it was essential to initiate our evaluations of these formats with smaller pilot studies. These pilot studies aimed to assess feasibility, acceptability, and ensure the absence of any harmful side effects associated with the treatments.

All the studies involved the management of sensitive data, which inherently carries certain risks. To ensure participant integrity, data handling and storage procedures strictly adhered to the regulations set forth by Karolinska Institutet and Region Stockholm. In studies I–II, all clinical information pertaining to the participants was documented in their medical records, and any other sensitive materials, such as case report forms, were securely stored in locked archive rooms within the clinic where the studies were conducted. In studies II–IV, special ethical considerations were taken into account to safeguard patient integrity, particularly in relation to the technical interventions. The treatment platform employed a double authentication procedure for both participants and therapists. All platform data was securely encrypted and stored on a server, including the digital case reports in study IV.

In Study I, II, and IV, measures were implemented to safeguard the integrity of the recruitment process. Participants underwent a comprehensive evaluation before enrollment, which encompassed a diagnostic interview and an examination of their medical history. This evaluation aimed to ascertain that participants indeed carried a primary diagnosis of TTM or SPD and did not concurrently exhibit any acute mental health conditions necessitating immediate treatment, such as

suicidal tendencies or substance abuse issues. Most of the data collected in these studies, including demographic information and clinician and self-ratings of TTM/SPD and comorbidity, are normally collected during routine psychiatric care as well and serve the purpose of ensuring the safety of the recruitment process as described above. However, certain additional data, including assessments related to work alliance, treatment credibility, and psychological flexibility, typically fall outside the scope of routine psychiatric care. This additional load of assessments could potentially have been perceived as burdensome by the participants and might have had a negative impact on them. Therefore, when selecting the instruments to be used, deliberate efforts were made to minimize the length and quantity of structured interviews and scales.

When evaluating new treatment approaches, it is imperative to carefully weigh the potential risks against the potential benefits of the intervention being studied. At the outset of this doctoral project, the specific form of behavior therapy (ACT-enhanced behavior therapy) evaluated in all three intervention studies within this thesis (Study I, II, and IV) had demonstrated its effectiveness or showed promising results in prior trials of individual therapy for TTM and SPD. Initially, ACT-enhanced behavior therapy might lead to a temporary increase in distress as participants are actively encouraged to trigger their impulses to pull or pick, allowing them to practice embracing these impulses rather than acting on them. This temporary increase in distress is considered an integral part of the treatment, as it is a prerequisite for learning a sounder approach to these impulses. In all studies included in this thesis, every participant was offered the active treatment intervention. The only distinction was that individuals in the control group of Study IV received their treatment one month after the intervention group had concluded their treatment. While this waiting period may have presented a challenge for the participants, it constitutes a crucial aspect of the study's design, motivated by the potential advantages of advancing the development and testing of a treatment that, in the long run, can improve access to treatment.

Additionally, to ensure participant safety, depressive symptoms were monitored through self-ratings every other week during the interventions. If significant changes in mood or signs of suicidality were detected, the therapist promptly contacted the participant for further evaluation. Potential adverse effects of the interventions were closely monitored and transparently reported in both Study II and IV.

As far as the ethical permits allowed, several efforts were made to conduct the studies according to open science principles (Munafò et al., 2017). Studies II–IV were preregistered on the Open Science Framework to ensure strict adherence to predetermined study executing strategies and to prevent any deviations or alterations that could potentially benefit the researchers. Unfortunately, Study I was not preregistered due to an administrative error. To enhance transparency, the results have been thoroughly reported, with supplementary data readily accessible in online appendices. Additionally, they have been made publicly available through open-access publications.

4.5.1 Ethical approvals

Study I: 2014-70231 Study II and III: 2019-06325, 2020-06126 Study IV: 2022-03296-01

5 Discussion

The primary objective of this thesis was to develop and evaluate novel approaches to deliver and scale up the treatment for individuals dealing with TTM and/or SPD.

5.1 Is ACT-enhanced group behavior therapy a feasible treatment for adults with trichotillomania and skin-picking disorder when conducted in a psychiatric setting?

The aim of **Study I** was to evaluate the feasibility, acceptability, and initial efficacy of ACT-enhanced group behavior therapy (AEGBT) for TTM and SPD within a routine psychiatric setting. The overall findings suggested that AEGBT was feasible, as evidenced by its positive reception, low dropout rate, and high attendance rates during the treatment period. Furthermore, the group format seemed to help alleviate feelings of stigma and shame. The results also indicated the preliminary efficacy of AEGBT in reducing symptoms of TTM and SPD when administered to mixed groups of individuals with these conditions in this clinical context. Post-treatment outcomes in our study align with prior research on behavior group therapy for SPD (Schuck et al., 2006; Toledo et al., 2015) and individual behavior therapy for SPD (Schuck et al., 2011); however, no previous studies have explored group treatment for SPD. As seen in most previous research (Ninan et al., 2000; van Minnen et al., 2003), only a minority of participants achieved complete abstinence from pulling or picking following treatment, and a small number were considered in remission post-treatment.

Although earlier studies have reported sustained treatment effects for up to 3 months (Schuck et al., 2011; Teng et al., 2006), the 12-month follow-up for SPD of **Study I** is the first of its kind. Treatment effects for TTM remained significant up to the 2-month follow-up, possibly influenced by the smaller number of TTM participants. However, this pattern is consistent with previous research, where relapse after treatment is common for TTM (Diefenbach et al., 2006; Keijsers et al., 2006; Woods, Wetterneck, et al., 2006).

A notable strength of **Study I** is its naturalistic psychiatric setting, along with the inclusion of participants with a diverse array of comorbidities, setting it apart from previous research. Importantly, self-referrals were not accepted, and all participants were derived from standard clinic referrals. Most of the referred

TTM and/or SPD patients were included in the study. However, it is imperative to acknowledge certain limitations in interpreting the findings of **Study I**. The deliberate choice of a small sample size and the omission of a control group, driven by the pilot nature of the trial, raises the possibility that the observed changes could have been influenced by factors unrelated to the treatment. These extraneous influences may include the mere passage of time or the attention and support from caregivers that were not specific to the treatment. Furthermore, our study lacked controls for changes in medication during treatment and the monitoring of treatment sessions, which may have allowed for deviations from the prescribed treatment protocol.

The group therapy approach and the mixing of TTM and SPD patients in the same treatment groups offer more efficient utilization of therapist time and the potential for increased dissemination and availability of evidence-based treatment for TTM and SPD. However, it is important to note that the group format may not inherently make treatment more accessible for individuals residing in geographically remote areas.

5.2 Is internet-delivered acceptance-enhanced behavior therapy a feasible and preliminary effective treatment for adults with trichotillomania and skin-picking disorder when conducted in a psychiatric setting?

In an effort to enhance accessibility to treatment for TTM and SPD, **Study II** built upon prior research on OCDRDs (Andersson et al., 2012; Enander et al., 2016), where iCBT has demonstrated feasibility and effectiveness, subsequently being incorporated into regional care for patients, irrespective of their geographical location. Building on this groundwork and leveraging the treatment protocol from Study I, we developed iBT for TTM and SPD. The aim of **Study II** was to evaluate the feasibility, acceptability, and initial efficacy of iBT for TTM and SPD within a routine psychiatric setting.

Overall, the results indicate high levels of participant satisfaction, treatment credibility, engagement, and therapeutic alliance, coupled with low dropout rates. These findings suggest that the treatment was both feasible and acceptable within the clinical context. However, it is noteworthy that a significant proportion of participants experienced increased stress during the treatment, indicating the need for further treatment modifications, as discussed below (see section 5.3).

Substantial improvements were observed in the primary outcome measures for both TTM and SPD from pre-treatment to post-treatment, with large effect sizes comparable to prior meta-analyses of mostly in-person behavior therapy (Farhat et al., 2020; Selles et al., 2016). These positive effects were also reflected in the clinician-rated NIHM-TSS/TIS for TTM participants and the disorderspecific secondary outcome measures for SPD. However, it's important to note that only a small subset of participants achieved complete abstinence from pulling or picking, and few reached a state of remission. These findings are consistent with previous research and underline the need for ongoing development and enhancement of TTM and SPD treatments (Ninan et al., 2000; Schuck et al., 2011; van Minnen et al., 2003; Woods, Wetterneck, et al., 2006).

Strengths of **Study II** lie in its use of a routine psychiatric setting with clinically referred participants, distinguishing it from prior online studies that relied on self-referrals and/or self-reported data (C. A. Flessner et al., 2007; Gallinat et al., 2019b; Moritz et al., 2012; Mouton-Odum et al., 2006; Kate Rogers et al., 2014). The study included participants with a wide spectrum of comorbidities, including neuropsychiatric conditions, making the results more generalizable to patients with TTM and SPD in psychiatric care.

Nevertheless, **Study II** has its limitations. Similar to Study I, the intentionally small sample size and the absence of a control group reflect the primary aim of this pilot study — to explore the feasibility and acceptability of the new treatment format, rather than emphasizing its efficacy. However, this design choice opens the possibility that observed changes could be influenced by factors unrelated to the treatment, necessitating caution in interpreting the results. While the absence of a control group restricts conclusions about treatment efficacy, the chronic nature of TTM and SPD (Christenson, Pyle, et al., 1991; Wilhelm et al., 1999) (Wilhelm et al., 1999; Christenson et al., 1991) and the long duration of symptoms in our sample suggest that the treatment's effects are unlikely to be solely attributed to spontaneous remission or non-specific factors.

The lack of statistical power due to the small sample size may explain the nonsignificant 12-month follow-up effects for TTM participants. An alternative explanation could be the high relapse rates observed in participants with TTM, a pattern reported in previous studies (Diefenbach et al., 2006; Keijsers et al., 2006; Woods, Wetterneck, et al., 2006). Another limitation of **Study II** was the absence of predefined feasibility assessment criteria, potentially introducing subjectivity into the conclusions. Hence, it is advisable to consider the study as exploratory within this context.

5.3 What are the participants experiences of internet-delivered acceptance-enhanced behavior therapy for trichotillomania and skin-picking disorder?

Study III aimed to assess participants' experiences with iBT and explore ways to enhance treatment effectiveness and its utilization for individuals with TTM and SPD. Thematic analysis yielded five themes labeled as follows: 1) Treatment program, 2) Therapist contact, 3) Treatment components, 4) Participant readiness, and 5) Treatment effects.

In the "Treatment program" theme, most participants reported a positive overall experience, citing the program's helpfulness and relevance. These findings align with the positive outcomes observed in Study II (Asplund et al., 2022). Participants exhibited diverse perspectives on the utility of the treatment format. While some valued the flexibility of the digital format, finding it easy to follow, others faced challenges with self-discipline and motivation.

In the "Therapist contact" theme, participants viewed the contact positively, considering it integral to treatment. Preferences for additional support varied, with some participants desiring physical meetings, video sessions, or phone calls. The importance of therapist support aligns with prior TTM-research, indicating a preference for supported interventions (Arabatzoudis et al., 2021). Furthermore, iCBT trials for various psychiatric disorders also indicate that supported online interventions tend to be more effective than non-supported interventions (Baumeister et al., 2014). For individuals desiring increased support, blended CBT – a treatment format combining the benefits of face-to-face with online interventions, could be worth exploring. Previous research suggest that blended CBT may save both therapist time, lead to decreased drop-out rates and sustained long-term effects. (Erbe et al., 2017)

The "Treatment components" theme highlighted varied experiences with different treatment components. Psychoeducation and reading about fictional patient characters were generally helpful, but some found the provided

examples to be repetitive. Components from HRT and ACT were perceived differently by participants. This highlights the need for further research on the efficacy of each component, in particular to what degree the different components are effective based on the individuals' pulling/picking style.

In the "Participant Readiness" theme, individuals with high daily life stress perceived the treatment's workload as burdensome. Some desired more time, emphasizing the need for a comprehensive assessment of participants' readiness before treatment. Adapting treatment based on individual needs was recommended. Additional practical support, as has been offered in previous iCBT trials for adult patients with ADHD and youth dealing with OCD and autism spectrum disorder could potentially aid these individuals to digest the treatment material and comply with the treatment to a higher extent. Another solution, inspired by a trial on iCBT for insomnia (Forsell et al., 2019) could be to assess the risk of treatment failure early in treatment, and then augment support for those at-risk of treatment failure.

The "Treatment Effects" theme revealed improved understanding and heightened awareness for many participants. Essential strategies were adopted to reduce or cease pulling/picking behavior. While perceived as effective by many, some participants faced challenges, resulting in feelings of failure.

Limitations of **Study III** include the limited diversity of participants, who primarily were females with a university-level education. However, the study's primary aim was not generalization of the results, but to gain insights into experiences, guiding future refinement of iBT.

Insights gained from **Study II** and **III** yielded significant information regarding the feasibility and participant experiences related to iBT. Subsequently, several modifications to the treatment program were implemented before the initiation of Study IV. A brief overview of the key modifications follows.

In response to reported heightened stress levels during iBT, we streamlined the program's content, simplified homework exercises, and introduced the option for audio presentations to facilitate participant focus on core treatment components. To enhance participants' visibility of progress throughout the treatment weeks, we integrated a dynamic visual graph that evolved as participants logged the time spent on pulling/picking each week. Addressing participant requests, we introduced SMS notifications to alert them whenever a

therapist sent a message through the treatment platform. Additionally, the platform underwent updates, featuring a more visually appealing layout and the flexibility to adjust text size.

In sum, findings from Study III suggest that regular iBT might not suit everyone but could be viewed as an early intervention in a stepped care approach, where at-risk participants could be identified and offered intensified digital therapist support or even face-to-face therapy.

5.4 Is internet-delivered acceptance-enhanced behavior therapy disorder an effective treatment for adults with skin-picking disorder?

The aim of **Study IV**, was to evaluate the effectiveness of iBT compared to a waitlist control condition in reducing symptoms of SPD. As expected, our findings revealed that iBT led to significantly greater improvements in skin-picking symptoms compared to the waitlist condition. These improvements were evident in both clinician- and self-rated outcomes, with substantial between-group effect sizes observed immediately post-treatment and at the controlled one-month follow-up. In general, the between-group effect sizes in our study align with those reported in prior waitlist-controlled trials assessing traditional face-to-face behavior therapy for SPD (Schuck et al., 2011; Teng et al., 2006), and were generally larger than those found in previous studies of unguided online interventions (Gallinat et al., 2019b; Moritz et al., 2012; Moritz et al., 2023). This difference may be attributed to the therapist-guided nature of our iBT treatment, potentially leading to higher compliance rates. The incorporation of ACT-elements into traditional Habit Reversal Therapy (HRT) could also have increased participant engagement with the active exercises.

Furthermore, the findings also demonstrated high feasibility. Impressively, 80% of participants in the iBT group successfully completed all ten program modules. The majority of participants expressed satisfaction with the treatment, with over 90% stating they would recommend it to others. Few adverse events were reported, and none were severe. Participants found iBT highly acceptable and credible, with a positive perception of the working alliance.

Notable strengths of this **Study IV** include its large sample size, minimal data attrition, clinician-verified diagnoses, long-term follow-ups, and the use of

blinded assessors. However, several limitations should be noted and some of these are outlined below. Firstly, we employed a passive control condition, enabling control over factors like the passage of time and repeated assessments but precluding control over unspecific treatment effects such as expectancy or alliance effects. A logical next step would be to compare iBT against an active comparator and/or traditional face-to-face BT. Another limitation is the absence of controlled long-term follow-ups beyond one-month post-treatment. Selfreferral of participants in the current study might affect the generalizability of the findings to SPD patients in psychiatric outpatient clinics, although the sample demographics did not significantly differ from the clinician-referred sample in Study II conducted within a psychiatric setting (Asplund et al., 2022).

5.5 Future directions

The findings derived from the studies included in this thesis offer valuable insights into existing research on TTM and SPD. Moreover, the execution of these studies has led to the emergence of new research inquiries, which will be delineated below as potential avenues for future investigation.

While participants in Studies I, II, and IV exhibited substantial improvements in the severity of TTM and/or SPD, only a few achieved remission. This trend aligns with prior research (Ninan et al., 2000; Schuck et al., 2011; van Minnen et al., 2003; Woods, Wetterneck, et al., 2006) and underscores the necessity for further innovations of TTM and SPD treatments.

One potential strategy to enhance the effectiveness of iBT could involve early identification of high-risk non-responders, followed by tailored adjustments or treatment scaling, as demonstrated in internet-delivered treatments for insomnia (Forsell et al., 2019). Identifying individuals with low treatment adherence during early intervention stages could indicate poor treatment response, as seen in face-to-face OCD, where early patient adherence significantly predicted treatment outcomes (Simpson et al., 2011). Offering additional forms of complementary support, such as video-sessions and SMS reminders, to individuals with low treatment adherence could potentially augment iBT effectiveness.

Another approach to increase patient engagement is the implementation of "modular treatments", tailored to address each participant's specific needs.

Allowing patients to focus on treatment components addressing their unique problems or type of pulling/picking might enhance motivation and effectiveness in iBT for TTM and SPD, consistent with studies on other psychiatric disorders (Chorpita et al., 2017). For instance, in the context of TTM/SPD treatment, a modular iBT program would enable patients whose pulling/picking behaviors are primarily triggered by emotional instability to forgo the stimulus control treatment component – considered short-term and ineffective by some – and instead concentrate on learning emotion regulation techniques, which they may find more beneficial.

As relapse or deterioration post-acute treatment is common among TTM and SPD patients across treatment formats (Asplund et al., 2022; Diefenbach et al., 2006; Keijsers et al., 2006; Woods, Wetterneck, et al., 2006), future research should concentrate on methods to improve long-term motivation and outcomes. Our iBT program incorporates several booster modules as a means to bolster maintenance. However, while both Study II and IV demonstrated high average module completion during the acute treatment phase, adherence to booster modules was considerably lower. Long-term outcomes in both studies varied, and the study designs do not allow for in-depth conclusions from these results. To ascertain if long-term outcomes are improved by the inclusion of booster sessions, future research should compare a group receiving boosters with another not receiving them. If the addition of boosters proves beneficial in maintaining treatment outcomes, a subsequent step would be to explore ways to optimize booster adherence. Absent these results, a potential strategy to boost maintenance might involve identifying individuals who deteriorate posttreatment and offering tailored support. For instance, tailored booster sessions could encompass increased therapist dosage and more visual feedback on treatment gains (e.g., highlighting less visible hair regrowth/skin healing). Furthermore, providing additional guidance on the long-term benefits and the necessity of continued post-treatment exercises might also be advantageous.

Fortunately, as part of this thesis and in other studies, promising treatment alternatives have been developed, aiming to enhance the availability and accessibility of treatment for TTM and SPD. Nonetheless, a substantial number of individuals suffering from these disorders still lack access to appropriate care. Therefore, the primary and most significant challenge ahead involves disseminating these treatments to a broader population. One of the crucial next steps in TTM and SPD research is thus to evaluate the effectiveness of iBT when delivered and implemented in regular healthcare systems.

Finally, to enable meaningful comparisons between trials, it is crucial to establish standardized criteria for defining response and remission after treatment. A precedent for such an initiative exists for instance in the field of OCD, where a multi-round, web-based survey resulted in global expert consensus on operationalized definitions of treatment response, remission, recovery, and relapse (Mataix-Cols et al., 2016). Using this approach for SPD and TTM could potentially ensure consistency and facilitate effective communication within the research community.

6 Conclusions

The overall aim of this thesis was to enhance accessibility and availability of evidence-based treatment for TTM and SPD by developing and evaluating the feasibility and effectiveness of innovative treatment approaches. Summarized below are the conclusions drawn from the four studies comprising this thesis.

Study I concluded that ACT-enhanced group behavior therapy (AEGBT) for mixed diagnosis groups, encompassing adult patients with TTM and/or SPD, proved to be a feasible, acceptable, and safe treatment approach within routine psychiatric care. The study offered initial evidence of the intervention's efficacy. Long-term outcomes varied based on diagnosis, favoring SPD-participants. However, further research is needed, including studies with larger sample sizes and active control conditions.

Conducted within a routine psychiatric setting, **Study II** similarly demonstrated the feasibility, acceptability, and safety of therapist-supported internetdelivered behavior therapy (iBT) for TTM and SPD patients. Study II revealed iBT as a preliminarily effective intervention in reducing TTM- and SPD-related symptoms post-treatment. Echoing **Study I**, long-term efficacy favored SPD participants over those with TTM.

Study III provided insights into the advantages and challenges associated with iBT, leading to crucial modifications in the iBT program applied in Study IV. Furthermore, Study III outlined areas for further research and enhancement to augment treatment efficacy and its applicability to a broader participant spectrum, including tailored treatments addressing individual needs.

In an academic setting, **Study IV** demonstrated the efficacy and sustained longterm benefits of iBT for adult SPD participants compared to a passive control condition. These findings further supported iBT as a feasible, acceptable, and safe intervention. Additional research, encompassing studies with active control conditions and non-inferiority trials, alongside cost-effectiveness analyses comparing face-to-face behavior therapy versus iBT, are warranted.

7 Acknowledgements

Over the past decade, I have dedicated myself to developing more accessible care for TTM and SPD. Along this journey, I have received incredible support and had the privilege of collaborating with numerous wise individuals who contributed to this thesis in their very own way. I would like to thank:

The study participants, for entrusting us to develop and evaluate treatments for your daily challenges. While we have been successful in helping many of you, I acknowledge our inability to help others among you. Let us place our trust in the knowledge gained from understanding what was not sufficiently helpful to you, aiming for even more effective treatments in the future.

Volen Ivanov, my dear main supervisor and friend. With great expertise, humility, and respect for both my family life and personal quirks, you have guided me and allowed me to embark on this journey in my own way. I am grateful that I had the privilege of being your very first doctoral student, and I hope it has left you with a taste for more. May you never lose your sense of humor and twinkle in your eye, bringing joy and inspiration to those around you.

Christian Rück, my co-supervisor and research group leader. With extensive knowledge in OCD and related conditions, it was natural for me to turn to you when I decided to embark on research. Since the beginning, you have generously and in a non-hierarchical manner opened the door to both your expertise and research group. The OCD research field has so much to thank you for.

Fabian Lenhard, my co-supervisor. I appreciate both your generous sharing of your profound knowledge in statistical analysis and scientific writing, and your constant kindness and humble demeanor. In the realm of research, where efficiency sometimes takes precedence over politeness in email exchanges, your messages always stand out for their pleasantness and bring joy.

Erik Andersson, my unofficial co-supervisor, co-author, and now also my boss. I have long been aware of your expertise and productivity. In recent years, I have also had the pleasure of discovering your deep dedication to sharing your extensive knowledge to junior researchers like me, and to our common students.

Tove Gunnarsson, my former co-supervisor and **Madeleine Magnusson**, my former boss. Your support enabled me to obtain approval from the management of Psykiatri Nordväst to commence my research. Since then, I have continued to

strive for the opportunity to conduct research, but without your initial support, I likely would not be where I am today.

Lise Bergman Nordgren, my mentor. Thank you for undertaking the loosely defined task of being my mentor. Although I never found the need to reach out, it was reassuring to know that you were available for support if I had required it.

My dear friends and former colleagues at Ångestenheten, Psykiatri Nordväst. In addition to providing highly specialized care for patients with OCD and related conditions, we collectively created the best of workplaces. The years spent with you will forever be the absolute blast in my professional life. Thank you for all the coffee breaks, swims in Brunnsviken, wonderful Friday lunches, and for letting me fool you every once in a while. There's no one like you guys!

Rücklab, my research group. Your welcoming manner, delightful company, and the opportunity to enjoy "Shish Taouk" (I am forever grateful to Oskar Flygare for introducing me to this exquisite lunch) helped me endure the melancholy that Huddinge Hospital has always evoked in me. Each of you contributes to immensely important research, and I am deeply impressed by your persistent efforts to create world-class healthcare.

My students and co-authors, Hanna Delby, Lina Forsberg, Maja Nilsson, Linda Sundh, Tova Grimlund, and Mika Sarachu Nilsson. Without your invaluable assistance, it would not have been possible to conduct these clinical studies, which collectively involved the treatment and interviews of a large number of participants. Thanks to your commitment and thirst for knowledge, Sweden now has a few more skilled psychologists with expertise in treating TTM and SPD.

The funders of the studies within this thesis, including Fonden för psykisk hälsa, Fredrik och Ingrid Thurings stiftelse, and Bror Gadelius Minnesfond, have my deepest gratitude. Your recognition of the challenges faced by individuals with TTM and SPD, along with your support, has provided me with the opportunity to conduct meaningful research in this field.

My Nyköping childhood girlies, my little gang. Madde, Annica, Hanna, Sophia, Carro, Malin, and Therese. We've been friends for an eternity, the years pass, and our friendship endures. I cherish the excitement of our gatherings throughout the year. Winter swims, walks, cooking delicious meals together, the juiciest gossip, and, of course, laughter—endless laughter. I don't think I ever laugh as much as when we're together. When I'm with you, I feel 17 again, and it's truly wonderful to experience that feeling with all of you.

Kristin, my dear friend. Our conversations mean the world to me, and I often find myself thinking that without them, I wouldn't have the air to breathe. Trusting someone as much as I trust you is a rare and comforting gift. I take solace in the knowledge that you are always there for me. Your genuine curiosity, warmth, courage, and non-judgmental approach have been a guiding light, helping me navigate the present moment and discover new perspectives. Having you as a friend is truly a blessing.

My parents, Kicki & P-O. The non-judgmental support and unconditional love from you, embedded me a sense that I could achieve whatever I wanted. Dad, you gave me the words. Without the love for them, I would never have endured all the writing that doctoral studies entail. You also instilled in me the curiosity to learn more and the confidence that I could be part of driving change. Mom, you gave me the emotions. All the big and intense feelings that have propelled me through life and inspired me to become a psychologist. When I was sad but didn't know why, you patiently taught me to search and understand what was weighing on me. But most of all, you gave me an infinite amount of your time and love. Nothing has been more important than that start in life.

Robert, my beloved husband. Life with you is, above all, the most delightful journey. I love sitting by your side on the porch of our summer house, engaging in stimulating conversations, feasting on sea-food in the backyard of Morgan's fisk, sharing common values, and appreciating the beauty of our home (and sharing a mutual dislike for dogs). From the challenges we have faced and navigated together, I find solace in the knowledge that our love remains unshaken. For the sake of love, we have questioned ourselves, changed deeply rooted behaviors, and embraced radical acceptance. I realized that you were truly special back in 2003 when fate determined that we would share a table at the psychology students' Christmas party. Yet, I could never have imagined that you would encompass all of this, the greatest of loves. Robert, may home always be wherever you are. I love you, now and forever.

... och till sist (och nu på svenska), **mina älskade döttrar Maja och Ellen**. Ni har varit mina största supportrar under slutspurten av avhandlingen genom att klappa mig på kinden, säga att jag är världens duktigaste och påminna mig om att när jag är klar, då köper vi en Dyson (!). Det finns så mycket fantastiskt i er – ni är smarta, omtänksamma, vältaliga (det ordet kan du använda själv, Ellen), kreativa (jag är så imponerad av @maja.jewelry.design, och det är otroligt lyxigt att ha sin egen SPA-terapeut i dig, Ellen), nyfikna (jag älskar hur ni, precis som jag, förtjusas av att upptäcka allt nytt som knoppas i torpträdgården) och roliga (You're both total sleigh queens!). Inget gör mig så stolt som att vara er mamma. Låt ingen någonsin förändra det som är ni – för ni är perfekta precis som ni är! Min kärlek till er är oändlig!

8 References

- Alexander, J. R., Houghton, D. C., Twohig, M. P., Franklin, M. E., Saunders, S. M., Neal-Barnett, A. M., Compton, S. N., & Woods, D. W. (2017). Clarifying the relationship between Trichotillomania and anxiety. *Journal of Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders*, 13, 30–34. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2017.02.004
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (5 ed.). American Psychiatric Association.
- Andersson, E., Enander, J., Andren, P., Hedman, E., Ljotsson, B., Hursti, T., Bergstrom, J., Kaldo, V., Lindefors, N., Andersson, G., & Ruck, C. (2012). Internet-based cognitive behaviour therapy for obsessive-compulsive disorder: a randomized controlled trial. *Psychol Med*, 42(10), 2193-2203. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291712000244</u>
- Andersson, G., Bergström, J., & Ekselius, L. (2005). Internet-based self-help for depression: randomised controlled trial. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 187(5), 456-461. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.187.5.456</u>
- Anzengruber, F., Ruhwinkel, K., Ghosh, A., Klaghofer, R., Lang, U. E., & Navarini, A. A. (2018). Wide range of age of onset and low referral rates to psychiatry in a large cohort of acne excoriée at a Swiss tertiary hospital. *Journal of Dermatological Treatment*, 29(3), 277–280.
- Arabatzoudis, T., Rehm, I. C., & Nedeljkovic, M. (2021). A needs analysis for the development of an internet-delivered cognitive-behavioural treatment (iCBT) program for trichotillomania. *Journal of Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders*, *31*, 100689. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2021.100689</u>
- Arnold, L. M., McElroy, S. L., Mutasim, D. F., Dwight, M. M., Lamerson, C. L., & Morris, E. M. (1998). Characteristics of 34 adults with psychogenic excoriation. J *Clin Psychiatry*, 59(10), 509–514.
- Arnold, L. M., Mutasim, D. F., Dwight, M. M., Lamerson, C. L., Morris, E. M., & McElroy, S. L. (1999). An open clinical trial of fluvoxamine treatment of psychogenic excoriation. J Clin Psychopharmacol, 19(1), 15–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00004714–199902000–00005</u>
- Asplund, M., Lenhard, F., Andersson, E., & Ivanov, V. Z. (2022). Internet-delivered acceptance-based behavior therapy for trichotillomania and skin-picking disorder in a psychiatric setting: A feasibility trial. *Internet interventions* : the application of information technology in mental and behavioural health, 30, 100573-100573. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.invent.2022.100573
- Aydin, E. P., Kenar, J. G., Altunay İ, K., Kaymak, D., Özer Ö, A., & Karamustafalioğlu, K. O. (2020). Repetitive Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation in the Treatment of Skin Picking Disorder: An Exploratory Trial. J ect, 36(1), 60-65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/yct.000000000000616</u>
- Aydin, E. P., Kenar, J. G., Altunay, I. K., Ozer, O. A., & Karamustafalioglu, K. O. (2021). Yale-Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale modified for neurotic excoriation: Validity and reliability study of Turkish version. *Neurological Sciences*, 34, 236–243.

- Azrin, N. H., & Nunn, R. G. (1973). Habit-reversal: a method of eliminating nervous habits and tics. *Behav Res Ther*, *11*(4), 619–628.
- Azrin, N. H., Nunn, R. G., & Frantz, S. E. (1980). Treatment of hairpulling (trichotillomania): a comparative study of habit reversal and negative practice training. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 11(1), 13–20.
- Barber, K., Woods, D., Bauer, C., Twohig, M., Saunders, S., Compton, S., & Franklin, M. (2023). Psychometric Properties of Trichotillomania Severity Measures. *Cognitive therapy and research*, 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-023-10406-4</u>
- Begotka, A. M., Woods, D. W., & Wetterneck, C. T. (2004). The relationship between experiential avoidance and the severity of trichotillomania in a nonreferred sample. J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry, 35(1), 17-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbtep.2004.02.001</u>
- Bienvenu, O. J., Samuels, J. F., Wuyek, L. A., Liang, K. Y., Wang, Y., Grados, M. A., Cullen, B. A., Riddle, M. A., Greenberg, B. D., Rasmussen, S. A., Fyer, A. J., Pinto, A., Rauch, S. L., Pauls, D. L., McCracken, J. T., Piacentini, J., Murphy, D. L., Knowles, J. A., & Nestadt, G. (2012). Is obsessive-compulsive disorder an anxiety disorder, and what, if any, are spectrum conditions? A family study perspective. *Psychol Med*, 42(1), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291711000742
- Bottesi, G., Cerea, S., Razzetti, E., Sica, C., Frost, R. O., & Ghisi, M. (2016). Investigation of the Phenomenological and Psychopathological Features of Trichotillomania in an Italian Sample. *Front Psychol*, 7, 256. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00256</u>
- Brauer, L., & Grant, J. E. (2017). Exposure and Ritual Prevention Therapy for Trichotillomania: Two Case Reports. J Clin Psychiatry, 78(8), e1057. <u>https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.17cr11603</u>
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77-101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp0630a</u>
- Busner, J., & Targum, S. D. (2007). The clinical global impressions scale: applying a research tool in clinical practice. *Psychiatry (Edgmont)*, 4(7), 28–37.
- Capel, L. K., Petersen, J. M., Becker, M. R., Levin, M. E., & Twohig, M. P. (2023). The efficacy and feasibility of a fully automated, web-based acceptanceenhanced behavioral treatment for trichotillomania in adults: A randomized waitlist-controlled trial. *Journal of Obsessive-Compulsive* and Related Disorders, 37, 100800. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2023.100800</u>
- Capel, L. K., Petersen, J. M., Woods, D. W., Marcks, B. A., & Twohig, M. P. (2023). Mental Health Providers' Knowledge of Trichotillomania and Skin Picking Disorder, and Their Treatment. *Cognitive therapy and research*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-023-10381-w</u>
- Capriotti, M. R., Ely, L. J., Snorrason, I., & Woods, D. W. (2015). Acceptance-Enhanced Behavior Therapy for Excoriation (Skin-Picking) Disorder in

Adults: A Clinical Case Series. *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice*, 22(2), 230–239. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpra.2014.01.008</u>

- Chamberlain, S. R., Harries, M., Redden, S. A., Keuthen, N. J., Stein, D. J., Lochner, C., & Grant, J. E. (2018). Cortical thickness abnormalities in trichotillomania: international multi-site analysis. *Brain Imaging and Behavior*, 12(3), 823– 828. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11682-017-9746-3</u>
- Chamberlain, S. R., Menzies, L. A., Fineberg, N. A., Del Campo, N., Suckling, J., Craig, K., Müller, U., Robbins, T. W., Bullmore, E. T., & Sahakian, B. J. (2008). Grey matter abnormalities in trichotillomania: morphometric magnetic resonance imaging study. *Br J Psychiatry*, *193*(3), 216–221. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.107.048314
- Chang, C. H., Lee, M. B., Chiang, Y. C., & Lü, Y. C. (1991). Trichotillomania: a clinical study of 36 patients. *J Formos Med Assoc*, *90*(2), 176–180.
- Chorpita, B. F., Daleiden, E. L., Park, A. L., Ward, A. M., Levy, M. C., Cromley, T., Chiu, A. W., Letamendi, A. M., Tsai, K. H., & Krull, J. L. (2017). Child STEPs in California: A cluster randomized effectiveness trial comparing modular treatment with community implemented treatment for youth with anxiety, depression, conduct problems, or traumatic stress. *J Consult Clin Psychol*, *85*(1), 13–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/ccp0000133</u>
- Christenson, G. A., & Mackenzie, T. B. (1994). Trichotillomania In M. Hersen & R. T. Ammerman (Eds.), *Handbook of prescriptive treatment for adults*. (pp. 217-235).
- Christenson, G. A., Mackenzie, T. B., & Mitchell, J. E. (1991). Characteristics of 60 adult chronic hair pullers. *Am J Psychiatry*, *148*(3), 365-370. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.148.3.365</u>
- Christenson, G. A., Mackenzie, T. B., & Reeve, E. A. (1992). Familial trichotillomania. Am J Psychiatry, 149(2), 283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.149.2.aj1492283</u>
- Christenson, G. A., Pyle, R. L., & Mitchell, J. E. (1991). Estimated lifetime prevalence of trichotillomania in college students. *J Clin Psychiatry*, *52*(10), 415-417.
- Crowley, J. J. (2023). Genomics of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder and Related Disorders: What the Clinician Needs to Know. *Psychiatr Clin North Am*, 46(1), 39-51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psc.2022.11.003</u>
- Diefenbach, G. J., Mouton-Odum, S., & Stanley, M. A. (2002). Affective correlates of trichotillomania. *Behav Res Ther*, 40(11), 1305-1315. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0005-7967(02)00006-2</u>
- Diefenbach, G. J., Tolin, D. F., Hannan, S., Crocetto, J., & Worhunsky, P. (2005). Trichotillomania: impact on psychosocial functioning and quality of life. *Behav Res Ther*, *43*(7), 869–884. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2004.06.010
- Diefenbach, G. J., Tolin, D. F., Hannan, S., Maltby, N., & Crocetto, J. (2006). Group treatment for trichotillomania: behavior therapy versus supportive therapy. *Behav Ther*, *37*(4), 353–363. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2006.01.006</u>
- du Toit, P. L., van Kradenburg, J., Niehaus, D. J. H., & Stein, D. J. (2001). Characteristics and phenomenology of hair-pulling: An exploration of

subtypes. *Comprehensive psychiatry*, 42(3), 247–256. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/comp.2001.23134</u>

- Duke, D. C., Bodzin, D. K., Tavares, P., Geffken, G. R., & Storch, E. A. (2009). The phenomenology of hairpulling in a community sample. J Anxiety Disord, 23(8), 1118–1125. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2009.07.015</u>
- Duke, D. C., Keeley, M. L., Geffken, G. R., & Storch, E. A. (2010). Trichotillomania: A current review. *Clin Psychol Rev*, *30*(2), 181–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2009.10.008
- Enander, J., Andersson, E., Mataix-Cols, D., Lichtenstein, L., Alstrom, K., Andersson, G., Ljotsson, B., & Ruck, C. (2016). Therapist guided internet based cognitive behavioural therapy for body dysmorphic disorder: single blind randomised controlled trial. *Bmj*, 352, i241. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.i241</u>
- Everett, G. J., Jafferany, M., & Skurya, J. (2020). Recent advances in the treatment of trichotillomania (hair-pulling disorder). *Dermatol Ther*, *33*(6), e13818. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/dth.13818</u>
- Farhat, L. C., Olfson, E., Li, F., Telang, S., & Bloch, M. H. (2019). Identifying standardized definitions of treatment response in trichotillomania: A meta-analysis. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*, 89, 446-455. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2018.10.009</u>
- Farhat, L. C., Olfson, E., Nasir, M., Levine, J. L. S., Li, F., Miguel, E. C., & Bloch, M. H. (2020). Pharmacological and behavioral treatment for trichotillomania: An updated systematic review with meta-analysis. *Depression and Anxiety*, 37(8), 715–727. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/da.23028</u>
- Flessner, C., Woods, D., Franklin, M., Cashin, S., & Keuthen, N. (2007). The Milwaukee Inventory for Subtypes of Trichotillomania-Adult Version (MIST-A): Development of an Instrument for the Assessment of "Focused" and "Automatic" Hair Pulling. Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment, 30, 20–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-007-9073-x</u>
- Flessner, C. A., Busch, A. M., Heideman, P. W., & Woods, D. W. (2008). Acceptance-Enhanced Behavior Therapy (AEBT) for Trichotillomania and Chronic Skin Picking: Exploring the Effects of Component Sequencing. *Behavior Modification*, 32(5), 579–594. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445507313800</u>
- Flessner, C. A., Conelea, C. A., Woods, D. W., Franklin, M. E., Keuthen, N. J., & Cashin, S. E. (2008). Styles of pulling in trichotillomania: exploring differences in symptom severity, phenomenology, and functional impact. *Behav Res Ther*, 46(3), 345–357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2007.12.009
- Flessner, C. A., Mouton-Odum, S., Stocker, A. J., & Keuthen, N. J. (2007). StopPicking.com: Internet-based treatment for self-injurious skin picking. Dermatology online journal, 13(4), 3.
- Flessner, C. A., & Woods, D. W. (2006). Phenomenological characteristics, social problems, and the economic impact associated with chronic skin picking. *Behav Modif*, 30(6), 944–963. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445506294083</u>
- Flessner, C. A., Woods, D. W., Franklin, M. E., Keuthen, N. J., & Piacentini, J. (2009). Cross-sectional study of women with trichotillomania: a preliminary examination of pulling styles, severity, phenomenology, and functional

impact. *Child Psychiatry Hum Dev*, 40(1), 153-167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-008-0118-5</u>

- Forsell, E., Jernelöv, S., Blom, K., Kraepelien, M., Svanborg, C., Andersson, G., Lindefors, N., & Kaldo, V. (2019). Proof of Concept for an Adaptive Treatment Strategy to Prevent Failures in Internet-Delivered CBT: A Single-Blind Randomized Clinical Trial With Insomnia Patients. American Journal of Psychiatry, 176(4), 315-323. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2018.18060699
- Gallinat, C., Moessner, M., Haenssle, H. A., Winkler, J. K., Backenstrass, M., & Bauer, S. (2019a). Help-seeking attitudes and experiences in individuals affected by skin picking. *Journal of Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders*, 23, 100483. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2019.100483</u>
- Gallinat, C., Moessner, M., Haenssle, H. A., Winkler, J. K., Backenstrass, M., & Bauer, S. (2019b). An Internet-Based Self-Help Intervention for Skin Picking (SaveMySkin): Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial. *Journal of medical Internet research*, 21(9), e15011. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/15011</u>
- Good Clinical Practice. (2001). Retrieved Oct 31 from http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2001/20/2009-08-07/eng
- Grant, J. E. (2019). Trichotillomania (hair pulling disorder). *Indian J Psychiatry*, 61(Suppl 1), S136-s139. https://doi.org/10.4103/psychiatry.IndianJPsychiatry_529_18
- Grant, J. E., & Chamberlain, S. R. (2020). Prevalence of skin picking (excoriation) disorder. J Psychiatr Res, 130, 57-60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2020.06.033
- Grant, J. E., & Chamberlain, S. R. (2021). Trichotillomania and Skin-Picking Disorder: An Update. *Focus (Am Psychiatr Publ)*, 19(4), 405-412. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.focus.20210013
- Grant, J. E., & Chamberlain, S. R. (2022). Characteristics of 262 adults with skin picking disorder. *Comprehensive psychiatry*, *117*, 152338–152338. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2022.152338</u>
- Grant, J. E., Chamberlain, S. R., Redden, S. A., Leppink, E. W., Odlaug, B. L., & Kim, S. W. (2016). N-Acetylcysteine in the Treatment of Excoriation Disorder: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA psychiatry, 73(5), 490-496. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.0060
- Grant, J. E., Chesivoir, E., Valle, S., Ehsan, D., & Chamberlain, S. R. (2023). Doubleblind placebo-controlled study of memantine in trichotillomania and skinpicking disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *180*(5), 348–356.
- Grant, J. E., Dougherty, D. D., & Chamberlain, S. R. (2020). Prevalence, gender correlates, and co-morbidity of trichotillomania. *Psychiatry Research*, 288, 112948. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112948</u>
- Grant, J. E., & Odlaug, B. L. (2008). Clinical characteristics of trichotillomania with trichophagia. *Compr Psychiatry*, 49(6), 579–584. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2008.05.002</u>
- Grant, J. E., Odlaug, B. L., Chamberlain, S. R., & Kim, S. W. (2010). A double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of lamotrigine for pathological skin picking: treatment efficacy and neurocognitive predictors of response. *J Clin*

- Grant, J. E., Odlaug, B. L., & Kim, S. W. (2007). Lamotrigine treatment of pathologic skin picking: an open-label study. *J Clin Psychiatry*, *68*(9), 1384–1391. <u>https://doi.org/10.4088/jcp.v68n0909</u>
- Grant, J. E., Odlaug, B. L., & Won Kim, S. (2009). N-Acetylcysteine, a Glutamate Modulator, in the Treatment of Trichotillomania: A Double-blind, Placebo-Controlled Study. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 66(7), 756-763. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.60</u>
- Grant, J. E., Peris, T. S., Ricketts, E. J., Bethlehem, R. A. I., Chamberlain, S. R., O'Neill, J., Scharf, J. M., Dougherty, D. D., Deckersbach, T., Woods, D. W., Piacentini, J., & Keuthen, N. J. (2022). Reward processing in trichotillomania and skin picking disorder. *Brain Imaging and Behavior*, 16(2), 547-556. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11682-021-00533-5
- Grant, J. E., Redden, S. A., Leppink, E. W., Chamberlain, S. R., Curley, E. E., Tung, E. S., & Keuthen, N. J. (2016). Sex differences in trichotillomania. *Ann Clin Psychiatry*, 28(2), 118–124.
- Grant, J. E., Redden, S. A., Leppink, E. W., Odlaug, B. L., & Chamberlain, S. R. (2016). Psychosocial dysfunction associated with skin picking disorder and trichotillomania. *Psychiatry Res*, 239, 68-71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2016.03.004
- Grzesiak, M., Reich, A., Szepietowski, J. C., Hadryś, T., & Pacan, P. (2017). Trichotillomania Among Young Adults: Prevalence and Comorbidity. *Acta Derm Venereol*, 97(4), 509–512. <u>https://doi.org/10.2340/00015555-2565</u>
- Gupta, M. A., & Gupta, A. K. (1996). Psychodermatology: An update. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, *34*(6), 1030–1046. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0190-9622(96)90284-4</u>
- Guy, W. (1976). "Clinical Global Impressions". ECDEU Assessment Manual for Psychopharmacology—Revised (W. Guy, Ed.). U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare; Public Health Service, Alcohol; Drug Abuse, and Mental Health Administration; National Institute of Mental Health; Psychopharmacology Research Branch; Division of Extramural Research Programs..
- Haaland, Å. T., Eskeland, S. O., Moen, E. M., Vogel, P. A., Haseth, S., Mellingen, K., Himle, J. A., Woods, D. W., & Hummelen, B. (2017). ACT-enhanced behavior therapy in group format for trichotillomania: An effectiveness study. *Journal of Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders*, *12*, 109-116.
- Hayes, S. C., Wilson, K. G., Gifford, E. V., Follette, V. M., & Strosahl, K. (1996). Experiential avoidance and behavioral disorders: A functional dimensional approach to diagnosis and treatment. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 64(6), 1152.
- Hayes, S. L., Storch, E. A., & Berlanga, L. (2009). Skin picking behaviors: An examination of the prevalence and severity in a community sample. J Anxiety Disord, 23(3), 314–319. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2009.01.008</u>

- Houghton, D. C., Alexander, J. R., Bauer, C. C., & Woods, D. W. (2018). Body-focused repetitive behaviors: More prevalent than once thought? *Psychiatry Res*, 270, 389–393. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2018.10.002</u>
- Houghton, D. C., Capriotti, M. R., De Nadai, A. S., Compton, S. N., Twohig, M. P., Neal-Barnett, A. M., Saunders, S. M., Franklin, M. E., & Woods, D. W. (2015). Defining treatment response in trichotillomania: a signal detection analysis. J Anxiety Disord, 36, 44–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2015.09.008</u>
- Houghton, D. C., Compton, S. N., Twohig, M. P., Saunders, S. M., Franklin, M. E., Neal-Barnett, A. M., Ely, L., Capriotti, M. R., & Woods, D. W. (2014). Measuring the role of psychological inflexibility in Trichotillomania. *Psychiatry Res*, 220(1-2), 356–361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2014.08.003</u>
- Houghton, D. C., Maas, J., Twohig, M. P., Saunders, S. M., Compton, S. N., Neal-Barnett, A. M., Franklin, M. E., & Woods, D. W. (2016). Comorbidity and quality of life in adults with hair pulling disorder. *Psychiatry Res*, 239, 12– 19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2016.02.063</u>
- Jacobson, N. S., & Truax, P. (1991). Clinical significance: a statistical approach to defining meaningful change in psychotherapy research. J Consult Clin Psychol, 59(1), 12–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-006x.59.1.12</u>
- Jafferany, M., & Patel, A. (2019). Skin-Picking Disorder: A Guide to Diagnosis and Management. CNS Drugs, 33(4), 337-346. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40263-019-00621-7
- Jones, G., Keuthen, N., & Greenberg, E. (2018). Assessment and treatment of trichotillomania (hair pulling disorder) and excoriation (skin picking) disorder. *Clinics in Dermatology*, *36*(6), 728–736. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clindermatol.2018.08.008</u>
- Keijsers, G. P., Maas, J., van Opdorp, A., & van Minnen, A. (2016). Addressing Self-Control Cognitions in the Treatment of Trichotillomania: A Randomized Controlled Trial Comparing Cognitive Therapy to Behaviour Therapy. *Cognit Ther Res*, 40, 522-531. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-016-9754-</u> <u>4</u>
- Keijsers, G. P., van Minnen, A., Hoogduin, C. A., Klaassen, B. N., Hendriks, M. J., & Tanis-Jacobs, J. (2006). Behavioural treatment of trichotillomania: twoyear follow-up results. *Behav Res Ther*, 44(3), 359–370. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2005.03.004</u>
- Keuthen, N. J., Altenburger, E. M., & Pauls, D. (2014). A family study of trichotillomania and chronic hair pulling. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet, 165b(2), 167-174. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.b.32218
- Keuthen, N. J., Deckersbach, T., Wilhelm, S., Engelhard, I., Forker, A., O'Sullivan, R. L., Jenike, M. A., & Baer, L. (2001). The Skin Picking Impact Scale (SPIS): scale development and psychometric analyses. *Psychosomatics*, 42(5), 397– 403. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.psy.42.5.397</u>
- Keuthen, N. J., Koran, L. M., Aboujaoude, E., Large, M. D., & Serpe, R. T. (2010). The prevalence of pathologic skin picking in US adults. *Compr Psychiatry*, 51(2), 183–186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2009.04.003</u>

- Keuthen, N. J., O'Sullivan, R. L., Hayday, C. F., Peets, K. E., Jenike, M. A., & Baer, L. (1997). The relationship of menstrual cycle and pregnancy to compulsive hairpulling. *Psychother Psychosom*, 66(1), 33-37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000289103</u>
- Keuthen, N. J., O'Sullivan, R. L., Ricciardi, J. N., Shera, D., Savage, C. R., Borgmann, A. S., Jenike, M. A., & Baer, L. (1995). The Massachusetts General Hospital (MGH) Hairpulling Scale: 1. development and factor analyses. *Psychother Psychosom*, 64(3-4), 141-145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000289003</u>
- Keuthen, N. J., Rothbaum, B. O., Falkenstein, M. J., Meunier, S., Timpano, K. R., Jenike, M. A., & Welch, S. S. (2011). DBT-enhanced habit reversal treatment for trichotillomania: 3-and 6-month follow-up results. *Depress Anxiety*, 28(4), 310-313. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.20778
- Keuthen, N. J., Rothbaum, B. O., Fama, J., Altenburger, E., Falkenstein, M. J., Sprich, S. E., Kearns, M., Meunier, S., Jenike, M. A., & Welch, S. S. (2012). DBT– enhanced cognitive-behavioral treatment for trichotillomania: A randomized controlled trial. J Behav Addict, 1(3), 106–114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1556/jba.1.2012.003</u>
- Khorramdel, K., Brahmand, U., Abolghasemi, A., ZARE, S., & Dashtiane, S. (2022). Etiology of Skin Picking Disorder in Monozygotic and Dizygotic Twins (An Integrated Genetic, Environmental, and Behavioral Model).
- Lee, E. B., Haeger, J. A., Levin, M. E., Ong, C. W., & Twohig, M. P. (2018). Telepsychotherapy for trichotillomania: A randomized controlled trial of ACT enhanced behavior therapy. *Journal of Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders*, 18, 106-115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2018.04.003</u>
- Lee, E. B., Homan, K. J., Morrison, K. L., Ong, C. W., Levin, M. E., & Twohig, M. P. (2020). Acceptance and Commitment Therapy for Trichotillomania: A Randomized Controlled Trial of Adults and Adolescents. *Behavior Modification*, 44(1), 70–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445518794366</u>
- Lin, A., Farhat, L. C., Flores, J. M., Levine, J. L. S., Fernandez, T. V., Bloch, M. H., & Olfson, E. (2023). Characteristics of trichotillomania and excoriation disorder across the lifespan. *Psychiatry Research*, *322*, 115120. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2023.115120</u>
- Lochner, C., Demetriou, S., Kidd, M., Coetzee, B., & Stein, D. J. (2021). Hair-pulling does not necessarily serve an emotion regulation function in adults with trichotillomania. *Frontiers in psychology*, *1*2, 675468.
- Lochner, C., Keuthen, N. J., Curley, E. E., Tung, E. S., Redden, S. A., Ricketts, E. J., Bauer, C. C., Woods, D. W., Grant, J. E., & Stein, D. J. (2019). Comorbidity in trichotillomania (hair-pulling disorder): A cluster analytical approach. *Brain Behav*, 9(12), e01456. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/brb3.1456</u>
- Lochner, C., Roos, A., & Stein, D. J. (2017). Excoriation (skin-picking) disorder: a systematic review of treatment options. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*, 13, 1867–1872. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/ndt.S121138</u>
- Lochner, C., Stein, D. J., Woods, D., Pauls, D. L., Franklin, M. E., Loerke, E. H., & Keuthen, N. J. (2011). The validity of DSM-IV-TR criteria B and C of hairpulling disorder (trichotillomania): evidence from a clinical study.

Psychiatry Res, 189(2), https://doi.org/10.1016/i.psychres.2011.07.022

Lundström, L., Flygare, O., Ivanova, E., Mataix-Cols, D., Enander, J., Pascal, D., Chen, L.-L., Andersson, E., & Rück, C. (2023). Effectiveness of Internet-based cognitive-behavioural therapy for obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD-NET) and body dysmorphic disorder (BDD-NET) in the Swedish public health system using the RE-AIM implementation framework. *Internet interventions : the application of information technology in mental and behavioural health*, 31, 100608-100608. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.invent.2023.100608

- Machado, M. O., Köhler, C. A., Stubbs, B., Nunes-Neto, P. R., Koyanagi, A., Quevedo, J., Soares, J. C., Hyphantis, T. N., Marazziti, D., Maes, M., Stein, D. J., & Carvalho, A. F. (2018). Skin picking disorder: prevalence, correlates, and associations with quality of life in a large sample. *CNS Spectr*, 23(5), 311– 320. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s1092852918000871</u>
- Mansueto, C. S., Stemberger, R. M., Thomas, A. M., & Golomb, R. G. (1997). Trichotillomania: a comprehensive behavioral model. *Clin Psychol Rev*, 17(5), 567-577. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0272-7358(97)00028-7</u>
- Martin, A., Scahill, L., Vitulano, L., & King, R. A. (1998). Stimulant use and trichotillomania. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry, 37(4), 349–350. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-199804000-00009
- Mashayekhi Goyonlo, V., Sardabi, M. S., Tavalaei, A. M., Khoshnevisan, Z., & Razmara, M. (2020). Cognitive behavioral therapy as an adjuvant therapy in acne excoriée: a randomized controlled clinical trial. *J Dermatolog Treat*, 1–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546634.2020.1776207</u>
- Mataix-Cols, D., de la Cruz, L. F., Nordsletten, A. E., Lenhard, F., Isomura, K., & Simpson, H. B. (2016). Towards an international expert consensus for defining treatment response, remission, recovery and relapse in obsessive-compulsive disorder. World Psychiatry, 15(1), 80-81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20299</u>
- McGuire, J. F., Ung, D., Selles, R. R., Rahman, O., Lewin, A. B., Murphy, T. K., & Storch, E. A. (2014). Treating trichotillomania: a meta-analysis of treatment effects and moderators for behavior therapy and serotonin reuptake inhibitors. J Psychiatr Res, 58, 76–83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2014.07.015</u>
- Monzani, B., Rijsdijk, F., Cherkas, L., Harris, J., Keuthen, N., & Mataix-Cols, D. (2012). Prevalence and heritability of skin picking in an adult community sample: a twin study. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet*, *159b*(5), 605-610. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.b.32067</u>
- Monzani, B., Rijsdijk, F., Harris, J., & Mataix-Cols, D. (2014). The structure of genetic and environmental risk factors for dimensional representations of DSM-5 obsessive-compulsive spectrum disorders. *JAMA psychiatry*, 71(2), 182-189.
- Moritz, S., Fricke, S., Treszl, A., & Wittekind, C. E. (2012). Do it yourself! Evaluation of self-help habit reversal training versus decoupling in pathological skin picking: A pilot study. *Journal of Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders*, 1(1), 41-47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2011.11.001</u>

- Moritz, S., Penney, D., Missmann, F., Weidinger, S., & Schmotz, S. (2023). Self-Help Habit Replacement in Individuals With Body-Focused Repetitive Behaviors: A Proof-of-Concept Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA dermatology (Chicago, III.). https://doi.org/10.1001/jamadermatol.2023.2167
- Moritz, S., & Rufer, M. (2011). Movement decoupling: A self-help intervention for the treatment of trichotillomania. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 42(1), 74-80. https://doi.org/10.1016/i.jbtep.2010.07.001
- Morrison, N. (2001). Group cognitive therapy: treatment of choice or sub-optimal option? *Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy*, 29(3), 311-332.
- Mouton-Odum, S., Keuthen, N. J., Wagener, P. D., & Stanley, M. A. (2006). StopPulling.com: An Interactive, Self-Help Program for Trichotillomania. *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice*, *13*(3), 215-226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpra.2005.05.004</u>
- Munafò, M. R., Nosek, B. A., Bishop, D. V. M., Button, K. S., Chambers, C. D., du Sert, N. P., Simonsohn, U., Wagenmakers, E.-J., Ware, J. J., & Ioannidis, J. P. A. (2017). A manifesto for reproducible science. *Nature human behaviour*, 1(1), 0021-0021. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-016-0021</u>
- Nagarajan, N., Jones, B. W., West, P. J., Marc, R. E., & Capecchi, M. R. (2018). Corticostriatal circuit defects in Hoxb8 mutant mice. *Mol Psychiatry*, 23(9), 1868-1877. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2017.180</u>
- Nelson, S. O., Rogers, K., Rusch, N., McDonough, L., Malloy, E. J., Falkenstein, M. J., Banis, M., & Haaga, D. A. (2014). Validating indicators of treatment response: application to trichotillomania. *Psychol Assess*, 26(3), 857–864. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0036333</u>
- Ninan, P. T., Rothbaum, B. O., Marsteller, F. A., Knight, B. T., & Eccard, M. B. (2000). A placebo-controlled trial of cognitive-behavioral therapy and clomipramine in trichotillomania. *J Clin Psychiatry*, *61*(1), 47-50.
- Novak, C. E., Keuthen, N. J., Stewart, S. E., & Pauls, D. L. (2009). A twin concordance study of trichotillomania. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet*, 150b(7), 944–949. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.b.30922</u>
- O'Sullivan, R. L., Keuthen, N. J., Hayday, C. F., Ricciardi, J. N., Buttolph, M. L., Jenike,
 M. A., & Baer, L. (1995). The Massachusetts General Hospital (MGH)
 Hairpulling Scale: 2. reliability and validity. *Psychother Psychosom*, 64(3–4), 146–148. https://doi.org/10.1159/000289004
- O'Sullivan, R. L., Keuthen, N. J., Jenike, M. A., & Gumley, G. (1996). Trichotillomania and carpal tunnel syndrome. *The Journal of clinical psychiatry*, *57*(4), 174.
- Odlaug, B. L., Chamberlain, S. R., Harvanko, A. M., & Grant, J. E. (2012). Age at onset in trichotillomania:clinical variables and neurocognitive performance. *Prim Care Companion CNS Disord*, 14(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.4088/PCC.12m01343</u>
- Odlaug, B. L., & Grant, J. E. (2008a). Clinical characteristics and medical complications of pathologic skin picking. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*, *30*(1), 61-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2007.07.009</u>

- Odlaug, B. L., & Grant, J. E. (2008b). Trichotillomania and Pathologic Skin Picking: clinical comparison with an examination of comorbidity. *Ann Clin Psychiatry*, 20(2), 57–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10401230802017027</u>
- Odlaug, B. L., & Grant, J. E. (2010). Impulse-control disorders in a college sample: results from the self-administered Minnesota Impulse Disorders Interview (MIDI). *Prim Care Companion J Clin Psychiatry*, 12(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.4088/PCC.09m00842whi</u>
- Richards, D., & Richardson, T. (2012). Computer-based psychological treatments for depression: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 32(4), 329-342. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2012.02.004
- Roberts, S., O'Connor, K., & Bélanger, C. (2013). Emotion regulation and other psychological models for body-focused repetitive behaviors. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 33(6), 745–762.
- Rogers, K., Banis, M., Falkenstein, M. J., Malloy, E. J., McDonough, L., Nelson, S. O., Rusch, N., & Haaga, D. A. F. (2014). Stepped Care in the Treatment of Trichotillomania. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 82(2), 361– 367. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035744
- Rogers, K., Banis, M., Falkenstein, M. J., Malloy, E. J., McDonough, L., Nelson, S. O., Rusch, N., & Haaga, D. A. F. (2014). Stepped care in the treatment of trichotillomania. *J Consult Clin Psychol*, 82(2), 361-367. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035744</u>
- Roos, A., Fouche, J. P., Stein, D. J., & Lochner, C. (2013). White matter integrity in hair-pulling disorder (trichotillomania). *Psychiatry Res*, *211*(3), 246-250. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pscychresns.2012.08.005</u>
- Roos, A., Grant, J. E., Fouche, J. P., Stein, D. J., & Lochner, C. (2015). A comparison of brain volume and cortical thickness in excoriation (skin picking) disorder and trichotillomania (hair pulling disorder) in women. *Behav Brain Res*, 279, 255–258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2014.11.029</u>
- Schlosser, S., Black, D. W., Blum, N., & Goldstein, R. B. (1994). The demography, phenomenology, and family history of 22 persons with compulsive hair pulling. Ann Clin Psychiatry, 6(3), 147–152. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/10401239409148996</u>
- Schuck, K., Keijsers, G. P., & Rinck, M. (2011). The effects of brief cognitivebehaviour therapy for pathological skin picking: A randomized comparison to wait-list control. *Behav Res Ther*, 49(1), 11-17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2010.09.005
- Schumer, M. C., Bartley, C. A., & Bloch, M. H. (2016). Systematic Review of Pharmacological and Behavioral Treatments for Skin Picking Disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol, 36(2), 147-152. https://doi.org/10.1097/jcp.000000000000462
- Selles, R. R., McGuire, J. F., Small, B. J., & Storch, E. A. (2016). A systematic review and meta-analysis of psychiatric treatments for excoriation (skin-picking) disorder. Gen Hosp Psychiatry, 41, 29-37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2016.04.001</u>

- Shareh, H. (2018). A Preliminary Investigation of Metacognitive Therapy and Habit Reversal as a Treatment for Trichotillomania. 46(1), 1–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1352465817000546</u>
- Shmelkov, S. V., Hormigo, A., Jing, D., Proenca, C. C., Bath, K. G., Milde, T., Shmelkov, E., Kushner, J. S., Baljevic, M., Dincheva, I., Murphy, A. J., Valenzuela, D. M., Gale, N. W., Yancopoulos, G. D., Ninan, I., Lee, F. S., & Rafii, S. (2010). Slitrk5 deficiency impairs corticostriatal circuitry and leads to obsessivecompulsive-like behaviors in mice. *Nat Med*, *16*(5), 598-602, 591p following 602. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2125</u>
- Siddiqui, E. U., Naeem, S. S., Naqvi, H., & Ahmed, B. (2012). Prevalence of bodyfocused repetitive behaviors in three large medical colleges of Karachi: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Res Notes*, 5, 614. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-0500-5-614</u>
- Simpson, H. B., Maher, M. J., Wang, Y., Bao, Y., Foa, E. B., & Franklin, M. (2011). Patient Adherence Predicts Outcome From Cognitive Behavioral Therapy in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 79(2), 247-252. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022659</u>
- Slikboer, R., Nedeljkovic, M., Bowe, S. J., & Moulding, R. (2017). A systematic review and meta-analysis of behaviourally based psychological interventions and pharmacological interventions for trichotillomania. *Clinical Psychologist*, 21(1), 20–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cp.12074</u>
- Snorrason, I., Belleau, E. L., & Woods, D. W. (2012). How related are hair pulling disorder (trichotillomania) and skin picking disorder? A review of evidence for comorbidity, similarities and shared etiology. *Clin Psychol Rev*, 32(7), 618–629. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2012.05.008</u>
- Snorrason, I., Keuthen, N. J., Lee, H.-J., Beard, C., & Björgvinsson, T. (2022). Skin Picking Scale-Revised: Diagnostic accuracy and optimal cut-off scores in university and psychiatric settings. *Journal of Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders*, *34*, 100743. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/i.jocrd.2022.100743
- Snorrason, I., Olafsson, R. P., Flessner, C. A., Keuthen, N. J., Franklin, M. E., & Woods, D. W. (2013). The Skin Picking Impact Scale: Factor structure, validity and development of a short version. *Scand J Psychol*, *54*(4), 344–348. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sjop.12057</u>
- Snorrason, I., Ricketts, E. J., Stein, A. T., & Björgvinsson, T. (2021). Trichophagia and trichobezoar in trichotillomania: A narrative mini-review with clinical recommendations. *Journal of Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders*, *31*, 100680. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2021.100680</u>
- Solley, K., & Turner, C. (2018). Prevalence and correlates of clinically significant body-focused repetitive behaviors in a non-clinical sample. Compr Psychiatry, 86, 9-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2018.06.014</u>
- Stein, D. J., Hoffman, J., Williams, T., Rothbart, R., Ipser, J. C., Fineberg, N., Chamberlain, S. R., & Stein, D. J. (2021). Pharmacotherapy for trichotillomania. *Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, 2021(9), CD007662-CD007662. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD007662.pub3

- Swedo, S. E., Leonard, H. L., Rapoport, J. L., Lenane, M. C., Goldberger, E. L., & Cheslow, D. L. (1989). A double-blind comparison of clomipramine and desipramine in the treatment of trichotillomania (hair pulling). N Engl J Med, 321(8), 497-501. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm198908243210803</u>
- Swedo, S. E., & Rapoport, J. L. (1991). Annotation: trichotillomania. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*, 32(3), 401-409. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-</u> <u>7610.1991.tb00319.x</u>
- Taylor Browne Lūka, C., Hendry, K., Dutriaux, L., Stevenson, J., & Barsalou, L. (2023). Developing and Evaluating a Situated Assessment Instrument for Trichotillomania: The SAM² TAI. <u>https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/v6qna</u>
- Teng, E. J., Woods, D. W., & Twohig, M. P. (2006). Habit reversal as a treatment for chronic skin picking: a pilot investigation. *Behav Modif*, 30(4), 411-422. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445504265707</u>
- Toledo, E. L., De Togni Muniz, E., Brito, A. M., de Abreu, C. N., & Tavares, H. (2015). Group treatment for trichotillomania: cognitive-behavioral therapy versus supportive therapy. *J Clin Psychiatry*, 76(4), 447-455. <u>https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.13m08964</u>
- Tucker, B. T., Woods, D. W., Flessner, C. A., Franklin, S. A., & Franklin, M. E. (2011). The Skin Picking Impact Project: phenomenology, interference, and treatment utilization of pathological skin picking in a population-based sample. J Anxiety Disord, 25(1), 88–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2010.08.007
- Twohig, M. P., Hayes, S. C., & Masuda, A. (2006). A preliminary investigation of acceptance and commitment therapy as a treatment for chronic skin picking. *Behav Res Ther*, 44(10), 1513–1522. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2005.10.002
- Twohig, M. P., Petersen, J. M., Fruge, J., Ong, C. W., Barney, J. L., Krafft, J., Lee, E. B., & Levin, M. E. (2021). A Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial of Online– Delivered ACT-Enhanced Behavior Therapy for Trichotillomania in Adolescents. Cognitive and Behavioral Practice, 28(4), 653-668. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpra.2021.01.004</u>
- Van Ameringen, M., Mancini, C., Patterson, B., Bennett, M., & Oakman, J. (2010). A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of olanzapine in the treatment of trichotillomania. J Clin Psychiatry, 71(10), 1336-1343. <u>https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.09m05114gre</u>
- van Minnen, A., Hoogduin, K. A., Keijsers, G. P., Hellenbrand, I., & Hendriks, G. J. (2003). Treatment of trichotillomania with behavioral therapy or fluoxetine: a randomized, waiting-list controlled study. Arch Gen Psychiatry, 60(5), 517-522. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.60.5.517</u>
- Walther, M. R., Flessner, C. A., Conelea, C. A., & Woods, D. W. (2008). The Milwaukee Inventory for the Dimensions of Adult Skin Picking (MIDAS): Initial development and psychometric properties. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 40(1), 127-135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbtep.2008.07.002</u>
- Walther, M. R., Flessner, C. A., Conelea, C. A., & Woods, D. W. (2009). The Milwaukee Inventory for the Dimensions of Adult Skin Picking (MIDAS):

initial development and psychometric properties. *J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry*, 40(1), 127–135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbtep.2008.07.002</u>

- Walther, M. R., Ricketts, E. J., Conelea, C. A., & Woods, D. W. (2010). Recent Advances in the Understanding and Treatment of Trichotillomania. *J Cogn Psychother*(1), 46–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1891/0889-8391.24.1.46</u>
- Weidt, S., Klaghofer, R., Kuenburg, A., Bruehl, A. B., Delsignore, A., Moritz, S., & Rufer, M. (2015). Internet-based self-help for trichotillomania: a randomized controlled study comparing decoupling and progressive muscle relaxation. *Psychother Psychosom*, 84(6), 359-367. https://doi.org/10.1159/000431290
- Welch, J. M., Lu, J., Rodriguiz, R. M., Trotta, N. C., Peca, J., Ding, J. D., Feliciano, C., Chen, M., Adams, J. P., Luo, J., Dudek, S. M., Weinberg, R. J., Calakos, N., Wetsel, W. C., & Feng, G. (2007). Cortico-striatal synaptic defects and OCD-like behaviours in Sapap3-mutant mice. *Nature*, 448(7156), 894– 900. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06104</u>
- Wilhelm, S., Keuthen, N. J., Deckersbach, T., Engelhard, I. M., Forker, A. E., Baer, L., O'Sullivan, R. L., & Jenike, M. A. (1999). Self-injurious skin picking: clinical characteristics and comorbidity. J Clin Psychiatry, 60(7), 454-459. https://doi.org/10.4088/jcp.v60n0707
- Woods, D., & Miltenberger, R. G. (Eds.). (2001). *Tic Disorders, Trichotillomania and Other Repetetive Behavior Disorders* (1 ed.). Springer.
- Woods, D. W., Ely, L. J., Bauer, C. C., Twohig, M. P., Saunders, S. M., Compton, S. N., Espil, F. M., Neal-Barnett, A., Alexander, J. R., Walther, M. R., Cahill, S. P., Deckersbach, T., & Franklin, M. E. (2022). Acceptance-enhanced behavior therapy for trichotillomania in adults: A randomized clinical trial. *Behaviour research* and therapy, 158, 104187-104187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2022.104187
- Woods, D. W., Flessner, C. A., Franklin, M. E., Keuthen, N. J., Goodwin, R. D., Stein, D. J., & Walther, M. R. (2006). The Trichotillomania Impact Project (TIP): exploring phenomenology, functional impairment, and treatment utilization. J Clin Psychiatry, 67(12), 1877–1888. https://doi.org/10.4088/jcp.v67n1207
- Woods, D. W., & Houghton, D. C. (2014). Diagnosis, evaluation, and management of trichotillomania. *Psychiatr Clin North Am*, *37*(3), 301–317. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psc.2014.05.005</u>
- Woods, D. W., Wetterneck, C. T., & Flessner, C. A. (2006). A controlled evaluation of acceptance and commitment therapy plus habit reversal for trichotillomania. *Behav Res Ther*, 44(5), 639-656. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2005.05.006</u>
- World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects. (2013). JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association, 310(20), 2191–2194. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2013.281053
- Xavier, A. C. M., De Souza, C. M. B., Flores, L. H. F., Bermudez, M. B., Silva, R. M. F., De Oliveira, A. C., & Dreher, C. B. (2020). Skin picking treatment with the Rothbaum cognitive behavioral therapy protocol: a randomized clinical

trial. Brazilian Journal of Psychiatry, 42(5), 510–518. https://doi.org/10.1590/1516-4446-2019-0636

- Züchner, S., Wendland, J. R., Ashley-Koch, A. E., Collins, A. L., Tran-Viet, K. N., Quinn, K., Timpano, K. C., Cuccaro, M. L., Pericak-Vance, M. A., Steffens, D. C., Krishnan, K. R., Feng, G., & Murphy, D. L. (2009). Multiple rare SAPAP3 missense variants in trichotillomania and OCD. *Mol Psychiatry*, 14(1), 6–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2008.83</u>
- Özten, E., Sayar, G. H., Eryılmaz, G., Kağan, G., Işık, S., & Karamustafalıoğlu, O. (2015). The relationship of psychological trauma with trichotillomania and skin picking. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*, *11*, 1203-1210. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/ndt.S79554</u>